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Monday, September 8, 2014

--- On commencing at 9:29 a.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning, everyone.  Please be seated.  Thank you.

Okay.  Good morning.  The Board sits today on the matter of an application by Hydro One Networks filed with the Ontario Energy Board on December 19th, 2013 under section 78 of the Ontario Energy Board Act.

Hydro One Networks is seeking approval for changes to the rates that it charges for electricity distribution to be effective January 1st, 2015 and each year thereafter up until December 31st, 2019.

Hydro One is applying through a custom application for a full review of its distribution rates over the five years.

The Board assigned the application file number EB-2013-0416.

The Board issued a notice of application hearing dated January 24th, 2014.  Hydro One supplemented its application with additional material filed January 31st, 2014.

In addition, the Board will deal with matters subject to an application by Hydro One for an exemption to a licence requirement that it had request (sic) be heard with its rate application.

The Board issued notice of the exemption request hearing on August 7th under file number EB-2014-0247, and the Board has combined the two proceedings for hearing purposes.

Three preliminary technical conferences were held in April in advance of the development of an issues list, a presentation from Hydro One senior executives, and the hearing of submissions on a draft issues list for the proceeding was subsequently held on May 12th.

The Board issued its Issues List Decision and Procedural Order No. 3 on May 20th, establishing the procedural steps and schedule to facilitate the filing of evidence, the discovery process, technical conferences, a settlement conference, and the commencement of this oral hearing.

Intervenor evidence has been filed and technical conferences were held on July 21st and 22nd.  On August 25th the Board issued a decision on a motion by the Schools (sic) Energy Coalition dealing with responses to interrogatories and confidentiality matters.

The Board has just recently received a motion on behalf of the City of Hamilton with respect to the manner in which rates for street lighting services are to be established.

Charges for street lighting services are an issue in this case.  We will discuss the handling of this motion as a preliminary matter later this morning.

So I believe that takes us up-to-date.  I will take appearances, and then we will discuss how we will deal with some preliminary matters that the Board is aware of and let us know if there is anything that we are not aware of as of yet.

Appearances, please.
Appearances:


MR. ROGERS:  Good morning, Mr. Quesnelle.  My name is Donald Rogers, and I appear as counsel for the applicant.  With me is Mr. Al Cowan, who is director of major applications for Hydro One.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'm Mark Rubenstein, counsel for the School Energy Coalition.  I would like to put in an appearance for Jay Shepherd, who will be handling cost allocation and rate design matters, as well as Ms. Julie Girvan, who's asked that I put in an appearance for her this morning on behalf of CC -- the Consumers Council of Canada.  She is unavailable this morning.

MR. QUESNELLE:  All right, thank you very much, Mr. Rubenstein.

MR. WARREN:  Robert Warren for the City of Hamilton.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Warren, thank you.

MR. MCGEE:  John McGee, representing the Federation of Ontario Cottagers' Associations.  Since we've not appeared before this particular Board, I just wanted to let you know that it is a federation of 500 local cottager associations, with about 50,000 underlying members, spanning the province right from Lake of the Woods to the Ottawa River.  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. McGee.

MS. GRICE:  Good morning.  Shelley Grice, representing Association of Major Power Consumers in Ontario.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Ms. Grice.

MR. JANIGAN:  Good morning, Mr. Chair, Michael Janigan for the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Janigan.

MR. DUMKA:  Good morning, I'm Bohdan Dumka.  I'm here representing the Society of Energy Professionals.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning.

MS. POWER:  Good morning, Vicki Power for the Society of Energy Professionals.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. YAUCH:  Good morning, Brady Yauch, Energy Probe Foundation.

DR. HIGGIN:  Roger Higgin for Energy Probe, thank you.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Good morning, Richard Stephenson for the Power Workers' Union.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Stephenson.

MS. VARJACIC:  Good morning, Anita Varjacic with Hydro One Networks.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MS. LEA:  I'm Jennifer Lea with Board Staff.  With me are the case manager, Harold Thiessen, also Lisa Brickenden, Leila Azaiez, Cieran Bishop.

I have also been asked to put in appearances for Mr. Vincent DeRose, who will be appearing for the Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters, for David Poch, who will be appearing for the Green Energy Coalition, and for Michael Buonaguro, who will be appearing for the Balsam Lake Coalition.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Ms. Lea.

Ms. Lea, is there anything further to -- I have got the two issues I was going to raise as preliminary matters, the motion from the City of Hamilton, as well as the exemption request as to -- from a matter of process point of view we will discuss those matters, and one, the exemption, a little more substantive dealing with that one.

Anything else that you are aware of that --

Preliminary Matters:


MS. LEA:  The only thing that I wanted to note at this time is that on Friday, at the end of the day Hydro One did file its witness panel structure as part of a PDF exhibit that was filed with the Board.

That witness panel structure document lists the evidence that each witness panel will be addressing.  As I understand it, Hydro One intends to call four witness panels, and as this week proceeds I hope that we will be able to discuss with the applicant and parties the schedule for the hearing so that we can attempt to also schedule the intervenor evidence which anyone needs to cross-examine on.

If anyone is lacking this witness panel structure list, we do have a couple of extra copies, if that is useful.

I believe Mr. Rogers -- Mr. Rogers wanted to speak to something.  Those are the only preliminary matters I am aware of, in addition to the two you mentioned.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you.

Just finishing off on that, perhaps you want to add anything, Mr. Rogers, on that, is the schedule itself.  Let's target Thursday morning for a discussion on the schedule, as far as intervenor evidence, when we expect to see that, and some idea, once we have had the witness panel's document before you for a couple of days, if you turn your minds to how much time you think you will need in cross-examination, and we will rough something out on Thursday morning.  That will allow us, I think, to properly assess the amount of time we have allotted, which is the remainder of this week and next, and get a feel for how comfortable we can be in holding to our normal hours and trying to conclude by the end of next week.

So let's target that, okay, Ms. Lea?

MS. LEA:  Mr. Chairman, I just wanted to note that as I understand it the Board is not sitting this Wednesday.  Am I correct about that?

MR. QUESNELLE:  That's correct.

MS. LEA:  So we are sitting full days Monday, Tuesday, Thursday, and Friday of this week, and also allotted full days for every day of the following week, including the Wednesday.  Is that correct?

MR. QUESNELLE:  That is correct, thank you for that.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I appreciate that.  Mr. Rogers, anything else?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, thank you, sir.  I do have one preliminary matter.  As is customary in these cases, I am asking the Board to relieve me from the prohibition against speaking with witnesses during cross-examination.  Under the rules of professional conduct in adversarial proceedings counsel is not permitted to discuss the evidence when witnesses are under cross-examination unless exemption is granted by the tribunal.  And it is customary in these cases to grant such relief.  It is necessary, because I need to talk to the witnesses to deal with undertakings and future panels and the complexity of the proceedings, and as usual, I undertake not to abuse the process by attempting to have them change unfavourable answers, should there be any.  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.

Any comment or submission on that request?  Okay.  As is customary, thank you very much, Mr. Rogers, the panel is fine with that.

Yes, traditional safeguards and your commitment to keep it to within the instructions received and that relationship, Mr. Rogers, thank you very much.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  As for the preliminary matters that I mentioned earlier, we have the City of Hamilton motion on street lights.  Why don't we, Mr. Warren, if we were to consider the schedule on that as far as how we would hear it, when we hear it, and can we include that in the Thursday morning kind of discussion as to -- or, you know, certainly hear submissions from you on this right now and how we go forward on that and whether or not you want to do that orally or not?  I think the Board would have a preference to do so.

MR. WARREN:  You tell me when you want me here to talk about it and I will come, Mr. Quesnelle.


MR. QUESNELLE:  All right.  Let's leave it to Thursday morning, then.  I think I said the Board has a preference that we will deal with this orally.  We see it as a narrow matter and it shouldn't take too much time, so let's slot that into the scheduling that we do on Thursday.  If that is fine with you, that's what we will do, then.


MR. WARREN:  That's fine with me.


Mr. Chairman, the Board may or may not be aware that there is an identical motion pending before the Horizon -- in a Horizon matter.  A date has been set for submissions on that orally.  If I were moderately competent I would remember what the date was, given that I was told Friday afternoon, but I'm not.  I can't remember what the date is.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I believe it is the 22nd, Mr. Warren.


MR. WARREN:  I wanted the Panel to be aware that there is an identical motion in that matter.  But I will be here Thursday morning.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  We are aware of that, and if that has any kind of issue on when you want to present that, let us know.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much, Mr. Warren.


MS. LEA:  Sorry, Mr. Chairman.  Just to make sure I am not confused, so on Thursday we will talk about when we're going to hear the motion, as opposed to hear it at that time?


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes, that's right.  Unless it comes out of the discussions that that is the perfect time to hear it, and then we will.


MS. LEA:  All right.  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


The second matter raises the exemption application, and this is an application for a permanent exemption from section 752 of the Distribution System Code.  And as I mentioned earlier, the Board has assigned EB number 2014-0247.


And if I could just recap where we are in the process on that, as I mentioned, the Board issued a notice on September -- or, sorry, August 7th on that application, and with the expectation that there would be comments received by September 7th.


We have on the record, I believe -- we do have comments from PWU, just received on Friday, I believe, or Thursday.


We also -- I mentioned this and I meant to mention this to you earlier, Mr. Thiessen.  I understand there were also interrogatories from VECC on the subject matter.  They're not clearly, I think, part of the public record on this -- this application.  So if we could just make sure that everything is placed where it needs to be, you know, so we've got that as one packet of information.


Part of the request was also for a temporary or a -- an exemption.  And so that request came in, so as we could put time aside to study the merits of the permanent request, but at the same time alleviate the concern of the applicant that they would be -- not be in compliance while we were doing so.


The Panel certainly respects that approach and will therefore grant a temporary exemption so that we can put aside the time and appropriately test the merits of the permanent exemption and not leave the applicant under the issue of being in non-compliance.  Okay?


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  Thank you, sir.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I don't think I had anything else, Mr. Rogers, if there is anything you had in addition.


MR. ROGERS:  No, thank you, Mr. Chairman.


My proposal is that, with your permission, I would like to make a very brief opening statement -- I assure you it will be brief -- and then introduce my first panel of witnesses.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

Opening Statement by Mr. Rogers:


MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Chairman, members of the Board, I would like to briefly trace the history of this application.  And you will see that there's been very extensive stakeholder involvement in the development of this plan before you.


Second, I thought I would briefly summarize the main features of the company's application for you and set out the essential items for which Board approval is being sought.


Third, I will outline the witness panels who will be called to answer questions about the various matters set out in the application.


Can I just start first with a very brief summary of the history of this application?


After issuance of the Board's Report on Renewed Regulatory Framework for Electricity Consumers, the company considered how best to proceed in its unique circumstances.


Ultimately it decided upon a customized cost of service application, as you pointed out, sir, based on a five-year plan.  The resulting application before you has been developed after many months of preparatory work and stakeholder consultation.


Four stakeholder sessions were undertaken while the application was being developed.  Stakeholder presentations on the company's preliminary plans were presented on April 29th, June 26th, October 16th and December 2nd, 2013.


And these are all set out at Exhibit A, tab 20, schedule 1, but you will see there's been at least seven or eight months of intensive stakeholder involvement in the development of this plan.


The initial application was submitted on December 19th, 2013, as you pointed out in your opening comments.  That application lacked detail in some areas, but the company wished to give the Board and its customers as much time as possible to consider this new ratemaking approach and allow for modifications.


Updated evidence was submitted to the Board on January 31st, 2014.  Then technical conferences were held on April 10th, April 23rd, and April 30th, 2014.  In these sessions, the company further explained its proposals and answered questions from various stakeholders.


Once again, as you have observed, a special executive panel presentation was made to this Board on May the 12th, 2014, and the application was discussed in some detail.


Updates to the application, which included the then-available 2013 audited results and modifications to reflect stakeholder input from the technical conferences, were filed on May 30th, 2014.


Next, the company responded to extensive questions through the interrogatory process.  And there were over 1,000 questions asked and answered, including the various parts to questions, and submitted on July 4th, 2014.


We then had a further technical conference conducted on July the 21st and July the 22nd, 2014, to provide additional answers and clarification to interrogatory answers.


Undertakings which were given at the technical conference were submitted to the Board and intervenors on July the 29th, 2014.


Then, submissions of additional evidence and undertaking responses were made on September the 2nd and September the 4th, 2014 as information became available.


So as you can see, the purpose of my summarizing this for you is to show that the company has been working on this application for well over a year, and since the spring of 2013, over a year ago, all stakeholders have been intimately involved in the process of developing this application.


In addition to the formal processes outlined previously, there were frequent informal exchanges of information between company staff, intervenors and Board Staff.  And an effort was made to make company officials and staff members available in an informal way without going through counsel, so the technical people could deal with technical people to alleviate concerns, elicit information and feedback to help the company devise this application.  This informal process is considered to be an important part of the company's stakeholder consultation effort.


I mean, if you were going to compare this case to an iceberg, members of the Board, this hearing really is the tip.  There has been a vast amount of work done beneath the surface.


May I just summarize for you very briefly the approval sought?


Obviously this plan is complex in its details.  There is a lot of complex technical engineering and financial information which supports the company's application.  Details of the plan and the approvals requested are summarized in Exhibit A, tab 3, schedule 1.


However, the basic framework of the proposal before you is relatively simple and straightforward.  This customized cost of service application, developed pursuant to the Board's revised regulatory framework, is specifically designed to meet the unique challenges of this particular utility.  It proposes approval of the revenue requirement, cost allocation and rates for Hydro One distribution over a five-year period from 2015 to 2019.


As you can see from an examination of Exhibit A, tab 2, schedule 1, page 2, the company's proposals amount to a change to the average customer's total bill of less than 1 percent on average over the five-year period.  So that there is an impact, but it is moderate, I submit to you.


Now, the company recognizes that there are substantial risks inherent in such a long test period to both the utility and its customers, and the proposal contains provisions to mitigate those risks by three proposed adjustment mechanisms.


First, there will be an annual adjustment for recurring events of a mechanical nature.  These will deal with such items as changes in cost of capital, working capital, tax rates, pass-through charges, and disposition of deferral and variance accounts.  These are mechanical in nature and I do not believe will be very controversial.  These are summarized at Exhibit A, tab 4, schedule 2.


Second, the company proposes that provisions should be made for adjustments for unexpected events which are outside the normal course of business.  These events will be material events outside the company's control, and examples would be new government directives or major material unforeseen weather events.  Details of this proposal are set out in Exhibit A, tab 4, schedule 3.


I hasten to say that Hydro One does not expect such events to occur over the planning period, but in the unlikely event that they do, the company proposes that it would apply to the Board for review of a particular component of the plan which might be adjusted.  This, of course, would all be subject to intervenor input and Board review and approval.


Third, the company proposes to apply the Board's policy in relation to off-ramps where regulatory review could be initiated if the distributor performs outside of the plus or minus 300 basis points earnings dead band or if its performance arose to unacceptable levels.


It also proposes that two additional off-ramps be included to include the possibility of industry restructuring or major changes to Hydro One's service territory.  Details of these proposals can be found at Exhibit A, tab 4, schedule 1, page 4.


The company believes that the plan before you is balanced.  It protects the integrity of the company and the interests of its ratepayers, while committing to a five-year period free of extensive rate review except in unusual circumstances.


Now, having said that this is a relatively simple and straightforward application, I hasten to add that, of course, there are complexities to it, and although we have had extensive stakeholder involvement, it is fair to say there are still contentious issues, particularly, I would say, in the area of cost allocation and rate design, where various customer groups are affected in different ways.


For example, proposed changes in seasonal customer classes, customer reclassification, and adjustments to revenue-to-cost ratios are and remain contentious, and I am sure you are going to hear a lot about them during the course of the hearing, and I refer you to Exhibit A, tab 2, schedule 1, page 4 to deal with those matters.


That is a brief summary of the application.  Our intention is to call four witness panels to deal with the matters in the application.  We have distributed a document, which has been filed as Exhibit A, tab 23, schedule 1, a 25-page document which provides, in detail, the panels that we will call and the areas of the evidence for which they will be responsible, including all the interrogatory answers as well.


So those are my opening remarks, members of the Board.  Thank you for your patience, and I am ready to call my first panel.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, very much, Mr. Rogers.


Something I neglected to do but had planned on doing earlier, and this is just something that Board Member Hare had raised in a proceeding that just wrapped up with OPG, and that's the use of acronyms.  We all get used to acronyms and -- but it is very difficult, especially ones that have a kind of temporal nature, that they might be related to a project or whatever is hot that year or whatever, and so reading transcripts at a later date, it is very difficult to track back.


So if we could ask everyone, the witnesses and those cross-examining as well, to the extent possible, to use the full language of the verbiage and reduce the number of acronyms.  Obviously we have certain ones which are built in our DNA and are the subject matter of this application that we just use obviously, like I just did, naturally.  But the WWFE and those types of things -- RRFE, rather, if we're looking at the use of the ones that are specialty, you know, if we could be careful in our presentation of those questions and answers, that would be helpful to the Board.


MR. ROGERS:  I welcome your comments, and I think my clients will be laughing, because I always have trouble knowing what these acronyms mean.  So I have instructed them to do that.  They don't always follow my advice, but I will keep after them.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you very much.


If there's nothing else, you have your first panel up, and thank you, Mr. Rogers.


MR. ROGERS:  We have here Ms. Susan Frank and Mr. Michael Winters.  Could they be sworn, please?

HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 1


Susan Frank, Affirmed.


Mark Winters, Affirmed.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, Mr. Rogers.

Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Rogers:


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you, sir.  Could I start with you, Ms. Frank?  I see that your curriculum vitae is filed at Exhibit A, tab 23, schedule 2.  Is that an accurate summary of your qualifications and experience?


MS. FRANK:  Yes, it is.


MR. ROGERS:  Let me just lead you through it very briefly for the Board's assistance.


I understand that you have a Bachelor of Applied Science from the University of Guelph?


MS. FRANK:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  And a Master of Business Administration degree from the University of Toronto.


MS. FRANK:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  You're a member of the Chartered Financial -- you're a chartered financial analyst and a member of the Institute of Chartered Financial Analysts.


MS. FRANK:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  You have extensive experience, I see from your curriculum vitae, in the business community, starting off with the Bank of Nova Scotia back in 1975?


MS. FRANK:  This is true.


MR. ROGERS:  And joined Ontario Hydro, the old Ontario Hydro, it appears, in 1990.


MS. FRANK:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  And served there in various positions as a financial planner, a finance manager, and executive director of finance for a number of years?


MS. FRANK:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  Your present position is vice-president and chief regulatory officer of this company.


MS. FRANK:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  Now, we have an exhibit filed as Exhibit A, tab 23, schedule 1, which indicates the areas of the evidence for which you will be answering questions.  Can you confirm for the Board that you have reviewed that evidence and that it is accurate and a fair summary of the company's affairs so far as you are aware?


MS. FRANK:  Yes, it is, and I so confirm.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.


Now, could I move to your right and my left, Mr. Michael Winters.  Good morning, Mr. Winters.


I see that you have a Bachelor of Applied Science degree in mechanical engineering from Queen's University.


MR. WINTERS:  Correct.


MR. ROGERS:  And you have been involved in the energy business, it appears, in one form or another since about 1996?


MR. WINTERS:  Correct.


MR. ROGERS:  Your curriculum vitae is filed as Exhibit A, tab 23, schedule 2, page 3.  Is it an accurate summary of your qualifications and experience?


MR. WINTERS:  Yes, it is.


MR. ROGERS:  You joined Hydro, it would appear, Ontario Hydro as it then was, in 2001.  Well, you worked previously, I see, in a joint project, but then you became a manager of Ontario Hydro Services Company?


MR. WINTERS:  No.  That is not correct.  So I became an employee of Hydro One in 2006.  Prior to that I worked with Ontario Hydro in various capacities.


MR. ROGERS:  I see.  In a consulting capacity?


MR. WINTERS:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Thank you very much.  So you came to Ontario Hydro in 2006?  And at that time you were director of IT operations.


MR. WINTERS:  Correct.


MR. ROGERS:  You then became the chief information officer in 2009 to 2013?


MR. WINTERS:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  Your present position is senior vice-president, engineering and construction.


MR. WINTERS:  Correct.


MR. ROGERS:  Now, the areas of evidence for which you will be responsible to answer questions are set out on Exhibit A, tab 23, schedule 1?


MR. WINTERS:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  Have you reviewed the evidence for which you will be responding, and can you confirm that, to the best of your knowledge, it is an accurate reflection of the company's affairs?


MR. WINTERS:  Yes, I have, and I so confirm.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.


Now, I have to ask you, Mr. Winters, you're senior vice-president of engineering and construction.  Why are you answering questions about customer relations?


MR. WINTERS:  I have had our customer service organization reporting up to me since March of this year.


MR. ROGERS:  All right.  You have been involved in the project to deal with the billing issues that this Board is well aware of?


MR. WINTERS:  Correct.  I'm the executive sponsor for Hydro One for the customer service recovery effort.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.


Those are my questions, sir.  The panel is available for questioning.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much.


I understand, Mr. Rubenstein, are you...
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good morning, panel.  My name is Mark Rubenstein and I am counsel for the School Energy Coalition.


I prepared a compendium of documents.  I don't know if the Board Panel has been provided a copy.


MS. LEA:  Not yet.  So just for reference, let's make these an exhibit.  Then it is easy to find them afterwards.  We will give this Exhibit No. K1.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  SEC COMPENDIUM OF DOCUMENTS.


MS. LEA:  Mr. Thiessen will bring copies to the Panel.  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And copies as well is on the screen, I see.


Before we look at some issues contained within the compendium, I just wanted to follow up on something and ask you a question with respect to Mr. Rogers's opening statement.


He talked a lot about stakeholder involvement in the development of the application; there were three stakeholder sessions in April.  There was the two in July.  There were many interrogatories and technical conference undertakings provided.


Did Hydro One modify the approval sought, as opposed to modifying the evidence, since the filing of the application because of stakeholder input?


MS. FRANK:  You're quite correct that we did modify the evidence in many places as a result of stakeholder involvement.


In terms of the application, the primary aspect of modification would have been the request for the exemption.  And this actually was as a result of stakeholders commenting on our targeted performance in this area, and not meeting the Board's criteria.  That is why we added that exemption request.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, Hydro One sought the exemption from the licence condition because of stakeholder input?


MS. FRANK:  Because the stakeholders brought to our attention that the targets that we were forecasting in the evidence were not going to meet over the five-year period the criteria that is in the Board.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  If we can -- I want to sort of begin the cross-examination by sort of just setting out sort of what's being asked for, what are the actual increases that we're talking about here.


If we can turn to page 3 of the compendium, this was a presentation that was -- an excerpt from a presentation that was provided to the Panel in the May 12th session.


On the first page, on page 3, it shows the distribution rate increase, and then sort of the smoothed approach on page 4.


And my understanding -- I want to look at this sort of at a higher level -- my understanding, the numbers have changed since this.  The smoothed approach is not 7 percent.  I believe it is 6.3 percent; am I correct?


MS. FRANK:  That's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  There were some sort of changes since we were talking about it before that were mentioned in the opening statement about the audited financials and some other changes?


MS. FRANK:  The year-end 2013 results were included, as well as some load forecast items.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But at sort of a high level, the same approach you're seeking?


MS. FRANK:  That's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we're just looking at sort of a revenue requirement basis, not the smoothed approach.  So the distribution rate increase on page 3, there's sort of a large increase in 2015 and then sort of smaller increases every other year.


So that what you have proposed is sort of a smoothing approach, to sort of equalize the revenue requirement increases in each of those years; would that roughly be what Hydro One is seeking to do?


MS. FRANK:  That would be correct.  It is indeed, as you just mentioned, a revenue requirement view of the request, rather than a particular rate class review.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So when we're talking about distribution rate increase, we're not actually talking about rates, we're talking about revenue requirement?


MS. FRANK:  That's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Just wanted to make sure about that.


And if I turn to page 5, this is an excerpt from your evidence, just sort of... this shows a summary of the revenue requirement request, the updated revenue requirement request.  If we look at sort of the last line, which is "revenue requirement less external revenues", would I be correct -- you can just -- you can take this number subject to check, but, roughly, would I be correct that over the 2015 revenue requirement request over the 2011, which is your last Board-approved number, is a revenue requirement increase of roughly 19 percent?


MS. FRANK:  Subject to check, I'd agree.  It looks close.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Then the 2016 revenue requirement over the 2015 would be 7.8 percent?


MS. FRANK:  That math is more difficult, but I can check it later.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then the number does get smaller between 2016 and 2017.  It is about a 3.7 percent increase?


MS. FRANK:  I believe those numbers would be consistent with what you saw on the updated version of your page 3.  So yes, directionally, they look right.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Then a 2.5 percent for 2018 over 2017, and a 2019 -- it is 2.8 percent.  That's sort of the trajectory of the revenue requirement increases, without the smoothing effect?


MS. FRANK:  That's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Can we agree that each of those increases by varying degrees is more than your projected inflation for those years, for any one of those years?


MS. FRANK:  Yes, we can agree with that.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If you could turn over to page 6 of the compendium, this shows the revenue deficiency and sufficiency calculation for the years you are seeking approvals; am I correct?  Sorry, on page 7.  I apologize.  Line 15, that's looking at the gross revenue deficiency/sufficiency?


MS. FRANK:  Yes, it does appear to.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  How that is calculated, if we look at sort of line number 5, it is looking at revenue at current rates.  So that would be based on your load forecast for the test year and the rates you have in place right now, what revenue you would be able to -- you would be able to bring in?  My understanding of that, that is what --


MS. FRANK:  That's the calculation.  Yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- revenue at current rates means?


MS. FRANK:  Yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we add up the deficiencies, this is at –- if we add up the deficiencies at line 15, for every year of the five-year plan, would I be correct that -- you can take this subject to check, but you're seeking an additional $1.73 billion from ratepayers over the years than what you would bring in based on your current approved rates?


MS. FRANK:  You just add it up, line 15, yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Does that sound about right, about $1.73 billion?


MS. FRANK:  It looks about right.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, if we can turn to page 8 of the compendium, here you were asked to confirm a table.  And this is a sample school, so a sample school that would be one of my client's members.


We asked you to confirm it, and I think essentially the only difference you had was sort of a titling difference, and that you use more decimal places than we do.


But do you see, four lines from the top -- four lines from the bottom, "Percentage," that line?


MS. FRANK:  Yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So this one is looking at -- shows a sample school in your UGD -- so that is your urban general distributor class -- and what would they pay if your application is approved.  And over what they're paying now, would I be correct that a school would be paying 74.3 percent more in distribution rates than it is paying now?


MS. FRANK:  Mr. Rubenstein, when I look at this page, it would agree with that.


However, this would not be my area of evidence to testify to.  This would be more appropriate for our panel 4.  For any further -- if you just want me to look at what is on the page and agree –-


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I am not asking for the reasons.  We are going to get to that, I guess, over the next three panels, but...


MS. FRANK:  Okay.  But that is what the exhibit shows, yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And then again on page 10, this is the same -- we asked you to confirm essentially a similar table, but this is for your GSD class, so that's your non-urban general services class.


And this would show an increase over the five years from what they're paying now of 76.96 percent in distribution rates?


MS. FRANK:  Once again, that is what the exhibit shows.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I would say, looking at this, looking at these tables for members of my class as well as the revenue requirement, obviously I –- when you're presenting this application, you would say that those impacts are reasonable?


MS. FRANK:  I would say those impacts follow, first of all, the revenue requirement that the company has put forward as being necessary to do the appropriate balance of meeting the customer's requirements and long-term sustainability of the business.  So it is the revenue requirement.


Then we follow the cost-allocation methodology that the Board has used for several years, and then there is a lot of rate design items which panel 4 will speak to and could provide more evidence and rationale for why those numbers are reasonable.  But from a high level I would say that they do fall out of our application, yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I could take you to page 15 of the compendium.  This is an excerpt from the Renewed Regulatory Framework for Electricity, the RRFE.


My first question would be, is it your position that your proposal is in compliance with the RRFE?


MS. FRANK:  Yes, that would be our position.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I could take you to page 15.  This is a chart from the report.  It sort of sets the three rate-setting options that were contained in the report:  The fourth-generation IR, the custom IR, and the annual index.


Am I correct that you have chosen the custom IR option?

MS. FRANK:  That's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But am I also correct that in the application you don't actually refer to it as custom IR or its full name, custom incentive ratemaking option, but you call it a custom cost-of-service application.  Correct?


MS. FRANK:  That's correct.  We thought it is important that we clarify -- when you talk about incentive regulation it is often seen as formulaic in nature.  So it's an inflation minus productivity or some type of a formula.


And we wanted to be perfectly clear that our application is a bottom-up assessment of costs over the five-year period.  That's why we called it the custom cost of service.  Not to allow there to be any confusion that it is bottom-up costing rather than formulaic.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You would believe that it is the same category, the custom IR and your title of it?  The custom cost-of-service application?


MS. FRANK:  Yes, I would.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  I want to walk through this table with you and sort of go through some of the constituent elements of that.


Now, do you see under "custom IR", under the sort of -- it is the second category -- sorry, second column -- this is a second-row form.  Do you see that?


MS. FRANK:  I do.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  For custom IR it says "custom index".  Am I correct there is no custom index, or you have not set an index.  I think that was what you were telling me with respect to why you call it a custom.


MS. FRANK:  Ours is a bottom-up determination of costs, yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, if we go down to the next -- two columns down, this is the annual adjustment mechanism.  There is a column for -- and for custom IR it says the following.  I want to talk first about the first one.  It says:

"Distributor-specific rate trend for the plan term to be determined by the Board, informed by, one, the distributor's forecasts (revenue and costs, inflation, and productivity), two, the Board's inflation and productivity analyses, and three, benchmarking to assess the reasonableness of the forecasts."


I want to first talk about the first one.  This is: "distributor-specific rate trend for the plan term to be determined by the Board, informed by, one, the distributor's forecasts, revenue, costs, inflation, and productivity".


Let me stop there.  What does that mean to Hydro One when it read this and it was preparing its application?


MS. FRANK:  That we would have to make sure that our five-year period reflected the inflation expectations that existed from the Board's information, and that indeed would also be an outlook as to what the industry was expecting, which we have done.  As a matter of fact, Exhibit A-16-1 provides the inflation forecast.  So I would say, yes, we followed that.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What about revenue?


MS. FRANK:  The revenue and the costs that fall out of that.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What about productivity?


MS. FRANK:  Yes.  Productivity as well.  We have done an analysis of the productivity, and that is in Exhibit A-19-1, where there is a description of the various efforts the company is making to be more efficient, and several of those have quite a challenge to them.


So, yes, we have looked at productivity.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So number two.  It says the Board's inflation and productivity analyses.  Is your application based on the Board's inflation and productivity analysis?


MS. FRANK:  I would say it is consistent with targeting productivity through the period and also an expectation with inflation that would not be materially different than.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Number three, "benchmarking to assess the reasonableness of the distributor's forecasts".


MS. FRANK:  There have been several areas where benchmarking has happened.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I will get to that.  If we can turn to page 21.  Essentially we asked you this question that I have just been asking you, which is:
"for each of the following please explain how the applicant has evaluated the reasonableness of its forecasts and, A), revenue, B), costs, C), inflation, and D), productivity".


And with respect to B), this is costs, you say -- you essentially refer us to Staff Interrogatory No. 33, Parts (a) and (d), and we have reproduced that interrogatory on page 22 and 23.


Let me summarize with respect to the benchmarking, and you can tell me if I am correct.  The only benchmarking that you have done is -- in determining the reasonableness of your costs is a 2011 compensation study that you have updated for 2013, a review of the arrangement between Hydro One and Hydro One Telecom, a vegetation management best practices that was originally filed in the 2009-0096 proceeding, and a benchmarking report on the outsourcing fees with Inergi.  Am I correct?  Would those be the sort of -- those are the four studies that you have benchmarked your costs?


MS. FRANK:  Those would be the studies that Hydro One has initiated, yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So there is no total cost benchmarking in your application that you have been able to provide the Board.


MS. FRANK:  No, there is no total cost that Hydro One has initiated, no.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And there is no benchmarking of capital costs?  The capital costs that you are seeking to -- there is no benchmarking of the appropriateness or the reasonableness of that?


MS. FRANK:  The capital costs are not benchmarked.  However, there is the -- a major portion of it is the cost of labour or the cost of materials, and as you said, the labour has been benchmarked.  Materials are procured through a marketplace with a very rigorous procurement process.


So I would say that's a market price which I would assume would be equivalent to a benchmark.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But the sort of total level of sort of what projects you're undertaking is sort of the reasonable of the entire capital plan.  There is not a single bench -- there's not a sort of a capital benchmarking study on the record.


MS. FRANK:  There is no capital benchmarking study.  The costs, however, I would say are reasonable.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And there is no sort of overall OM&A benchmarking study in the evidence?


MS. FRANK:  There is no OM&A benchmarking study, but once again, if you compare the level of OM&A, which is basically flat, to what the Board has looked at from other, say the Pacific Economics Group, PEG, as analysis, flat would be at the lower end of what the expectation would be.


So while it wasn't specifically benchmarked, the bottom line looks favourable compared to the Board's efforts.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But there is no sort of study that would show your reasonableness in sort of isolation of past approvals?


MS. FRANK:  There is no benchmarking study on OM&A.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And so the only benchmarking that we have that was prepared for this specific application by Hydro One would be the updates to the compensation cost benchmarking study?  Am I correct?


MS. FRANK:  And also the outsourcing, the Inergi outsourcing.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My understanding of the Inergi outsourcing is as well that there is a -- it is out for RFP now.  So the benchmarking study will have sort of limited value, I guess, going forward?


MS. FRANK:  It has value, in terms of helping to establish what our expectations are for efficiencies that we should be able to get for the company when we outsource, and they have been built into those productivity efficiencies that I indicated are in Exhibit A-19-1.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Am I correct the fees -- the Inergi fees benchmarking review report, that was a term in the sort of contract you have that you can review the fees and do that?  Am I generally understanding -- so it wasn't prepared, you know -- you could have done that regardless of this application?


MS. FRANK:  It is supportive to the application in terms of looking at productivity.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I could take you to page 25 of your application.  This is a copy of your memorandum of agreement with your shareholder, the Province of Ontario.  Am I correct?  For Hydro One?


MS. FRANK:  That's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we look under (b), for mandate, section 1, it reads:

"Hydro One's core mandate is the safe, reliable, and cost-effective transmission and distribution of electricity to Ontario electricity users."


Hydro One, do you believe that you're providing safe, reliable and cost-effective distribution of electricity to the people of Ontario?


MS. FRANK:  Yes, I believe we do.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we can turn to -- over to page 27 this is under section G, "Performance expectations."


Under section 2 -- I will read it:

"Hydro One will annually establish three- to five-year performance targets for operating and financial results, as well as major project execution.  Key measures are to be agreed upon with the Minister of Energy and the Minister of Finance.  Hydro One will benchmark its performance on these measures against performance of other utilities, including international utilities where information is available.  On these measures, Hydro One will target performance to be in the top quartile of private and publicly owned utilities in North America."


So my first question is:  Are you setting three- to five-year performance targets for the operating and financial results, as well as major project execution?


MS. FRANK:  Can I first indicate that this agreement is an agreement for our utility business in the transmission area, as well as distribution?


And I want to comment on this top quartile performance piece in this bullet that you have raised, where that really was more the transmission --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I will let you do that, I promise, but can I just ask you to just answer this question?  I promise I will give you a chance to make the comments you want.


But are you setting three- to five-year performance targets for operating and financial results, as well as major project execution, with respect to the distribution business?


MS. FRANK:  We have five-year plans, so that would be a yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are those on the record?  Is the performance targets on the record?


MS. FRANK:  Yes, they are.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And for you, the performance target is the same thing as sort of what's in the business plan?


MS. FRANK:  Yes, exactly.  That's where the targets come from.  They come from the planning process, the determination of what the outcome should be for service quality-type indicators, and the costs for the plan to reach those targets.  It's all integrated.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And are you benchmarking the performance of those measures against other utilities, including international utilities?


MS. FRANK:  We participate in various associations, such as the Canadian Electric Association and also North American associations, and that will be the way that we would do any benchmarking, through the associations.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And, I mean, we've talked about the benchmarking that you provided for this.  So what -- I don't see any -- I didn't see in the evidence sort of the benchmarking you're speaking of.


MS. FRANK:  This benchmarking tends to go more to the operating aspect, the reliability that -- those type of items, the metrics that the Ontario government is interested that we have as reliable a system in Ontario as is elsewhere.


So that will be the information that I am talking about when you look at the Canadian Electrical Association or the North American associations like the Edison Electric Association.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But I'm correct that is not on the record in this proceeding?


MS. FRANK:  I don't believe it is.  Actually, questions about this, if we want to get into more detail, would be appropriate to panel 2.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Right.  I will do that.


And my other question then would be -- so in your view, section G2 of the memorandum of agreement with the province does not include benchmarking, costs or anything like that?  It is only an issue about reliability?


MS. FRANK:  It does also add financial results.  So I think that would go to items like net income and returns.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are you benchmarking the net income to other utilities?


MS. FRANK:  What we do is look at -- we look to the Board's allowed returns and determine how we match those.  And I know the Board, in setting their returns, looks to other utilities.  So by inference, yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, it talks about you will target performance to be in the top quartile of private and publicly-owned utilities in North America.


Is there a plan -– well, first let me ask you, are you in the top quartile of performance?


MS. FRANK:  In our transmission business, yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  In your distribution business?


MS. FRANK:  Fourth quartile.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And is there a plan to be in the top quartile?


MS. FRANK:  We plan to continue in the top quartile for transmission, and there is no expectation to improve the reliability for the distribution business.


MR. ROGERS:  Can I interrupt?  I'm sorry, Mr. Rubenstein.  Is this the area that, Ms. Frank -- you were going to give her an opportunity to talk about transmission.  She may have done it on her own, but is that the point you were trying to make earlier, Ms. Frank?


MS. FRANK:  That is exactly the point, that this criteria is for both businesses.


And the transmission, indeed we are first quartile.  We are a leader in that area in terms of our performance.


That is not the same with our distribution system.  And our shareholder does realize, given the territory that we serve in distribution, that it will be incredibly costly for this company to be a first quartile performer for its distribution customers.


Fourth quartile allows that appropriate balance between cost to customers and reliability that our shareholders see as appropriate.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Would I be correct that based on the Board's sort of approved productivity methodology, this would be the -- this would be conducted by the Pacific Economics Group, the PEG report, that Hydro One is, if not the least productive, but one of the least productive distributors in Ontario?


MS. FRANK:  The report you're referring to is, I believe, an item that you provided to us.  Can we actually go to that?  Can you take me there?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I have sort of the summary of the analysis.  This was from the July 2014 report.  It was actually released in August.  It is on page 30 through 33 I provided sort of the excerpts of the numbers.


But my question would just -- that Hydro One is, if not the least productive, one of the second or third least productive distributors in Ontario?


MS. FRANK:  I'm not going to agree with that, because I feel that this report has actually indicated that Hydro One and Toronto Hydro don't logically follow using the methodology.  They have actually taken us out of the study to do their analysis, and then at the tail end have added those two utilities, ourselves and Toronto Hydro, back in.


When you use their methodology, I will agree with you that there's only, I think, four utilities that they give a stretch factor of 0.6, and Hydro One is one of those four.


But if I can have your indulgence, I was also looking at how we're doing.  And it's because you gave me this report that I paid some attention to it, because normally I would not, thinking that their methodology doesn't apply to us.


But when I looked at their table 4 which is up here -- no, it's okay.  Please go back.  Okay.  So table 4, and I look at the second line on there and the comparison of the 2010 to 2012, where according to the approach that Pacific Economics Group used, we were 58 percent above what they target as efficient.


However, when I look at the next year, the '11 to '13, we have made considerable improvement.  It hasn't helped the stretch factor at all, but considerable improvement according to their methodology.  I don't know that there's many others that show the kind of gain that this analysis shows.


So I think there is a demonstration that our productivity is improving, if you believe in the approach that Pacific Economics Group is using.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You would agree with me that there are not that many distributors in Ontario that, to begin with, are as unproductive as Hydro One, based on the PEG methodology?


MS. FRANK:  As I indicated, there are four that are in that stretch factor of 0.6.  But I don't see ones in any stretch factor that show this kind of improvement.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So would you agree with me that -- I think besides Algoma Hydro -- you are, according to the PEG methodology in setting the stretch factors, you are the second-least efficient distributor in Ontario?


MS. FRANK:  Yes.  That's what their numbers say.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And am I correct on just pure --


MS. FRANK:  However, can I just add, if I look at their numbers for 2011 to 2013 and look at the Toronto Hydro's 47 and Hydro One's 47.8, I would say that is likely within the error of rounding.


So we're tied.  Not great, but tied.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That would probably be an understatement.


Am I correct that just on pure rates, Hydro One would have, if not the highest, but one of the highest rates, distribution rates, in Ontario?


MS. FRANK:  I haven't done the analysis to determine that.  I don't know.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Would that seem to be that you have -- would that seem to be sort of within your expectation that you would have one of the highest, if not the highest, distribution rates in Ontario?


MS. FRANK:  I'm not agreeing to that, Mr. Rubenstein, primarily because I haven't done the research to determine that.  And I do know that, given the geography that we served, our rates would tend to be higher.  I am struggling with your characterization of one of the highest.  That, I haven't looked.  I don't know.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I think we had this discussion before, but am I correct, in terms of reliability, you're in the bottom quartile?


MS. FRANK:  That's correct.  We're fourth-quartile.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So is it fair to say, in terms of, you know, the important things to customers, reliability and costs, you're nowhere near the top quartile in any of those categories?


MS. FRANK:  That would be fair.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I think you -- you mentioned this before, but with respect to the total factor productivity metrics by the Board, that Hydro One is, I would say, so bad compared to other utilities that they had to be removed from the Board's industry productivity factor with Toronto Hydro as not to distort the entire measure?  Hydro One and Toronto Hydro's actual productivity measures would have been a negative number if they were included in the analysis setting the productivity factor for this year?  Am I correct?


MS. FRANK:  That's not my understanding of the reason that we were excluded, Toronto Hydro and ourselves.  My understanding was that when Pacific Economics Group did their analysis and their various factors that they needed to adjust for in terms of the customers served and the density and the types of equipment that was used -- that their adjustment factors were not actually accommodating the circumstances that Toronto Hydro or that Hydro One find themselves in.


Toronto obviously very high-density with a lot of underground system, and Hydro One being very low-density with vast geography that recovered, and very difficult to reach a lot of our customers.  So their mechanisms that they try to normalize for weren't working.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I could take you to page 35.  This is sort of an excerpt from that.  This would be the December 4th, 2013 report in EB-2010-079.


On the second paragraph -- sorry, the first full paragraph, the last sentence the Board says -- this is where it talks about it is excluding Hydro One and Toronto Hydro.  It says:

"Furthermore, the Board is of the view that, as long as they remain outliers, these distributors should be excluded from the industry TFP data set."


That seems to suggest to me that at least there's an expectation that at some point in the future you'll no longer be an outlier, or you should no longer be an outlier.  Is that a fair read?


MS. FRANK:  I don't read it that way.  My feeling is the nature of the customers that we serve and the systems we operate, that we will likely continue to be outliers for quite some time.  Likely -- quite possibly permanently.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is there a plan in the application to get you at some point -- maybe not within the five-year term of this application -- that you would become -- that you no longer become an outlier?  That you bring your total factor productivity based on the PEG methodology sort of more into line with other distributors?


MS. FRANK:  Once again, the problem with the PEG methodology when it comes to Pacific Economics Group methodology, when it comes to dealing with Hydro One, is it does not appropriately recognize either the density or the geography of our customers and our system, and I think that will always be a problem for us, and our expectation is we'll continue to serve those customers in areas that are challenging to get to, and that will mean that we will likely suffer, when you use the Pacific Economics Group's approach to productivity for -- I don't see it ending.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is there a plan in the application over, maybe not even the five years, but some sort of future time to sort of have your rates be sort of closer to, you know, average of the province?


MS. FRANK:  As I indicated, it's the nature of the system that we operate that causes us to be more expensive.  It's not that we're not making productivity improvements.  We are making productivity improvements.


The challenge is, when you deal with a customer base in the -- we always used to talk about the number of poles it takes to serve a customer.  Most utilities talk about the number of customers served by one pole.  That's not changing.  Therefore, I don't see how we can get to an average cost, if we are operating basically different systems.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So there's no plan -- Hydro One has no plan, putting aside sort of the term of this application for one thing, but sort of in the future -- to have -- sort of bring, you know, have more reason -- you know, rates that are more sort of on average with the province and reliability that's more average in the province.  There is no sort of plan for Hydro One generally to do that?


MS. FRANK:  There's certainly no plan to improve the reliability.  This level of reliability we believe is appropriate for the customers and where they're located.


Also, because of those customers and where they're located, our costs will continue to be higher than an urban-based utility.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I could take you back to page 15 of the compendium.  This is that chart from the RRFE report.  If we go down to the row where it says "sharing of benefits", you see for custom IR it says "productivity factor".  Then it says, sort of the row below that, for fourth-generation IR it has stretch factor, for custom IR it says case-by-case, annual IR it says highest fourth-generation IR stretch factor.  Do you see that?


MS. FRANK:  I do.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You're not proposing a stretch factor?  Am I correct?


MS. FRANK:  We built the productivity in.  I think we're under the case-by-case.  And once again, that evidence is going to be discussed under panel 2, Exhibit A-19-1.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you're not proposing a productivity factor either, though.


MS. FRANK:  The underlying cost reductions are in the evidence.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Would there be a difference -- sorry, so you factored in -- I don't want to sort of get into the details of what are the specific issues, but sort of at a general level, you factored into sort of the productivity initiatives that you're taking and the cost savings sort of into your proposed costs for the year.  Is that fair, for every year?


MS. FRANK:  Our costs that we're showing over this five-year period have been reduced by the productivity that we believe we can achieve.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If you had a normal rebasing application, right, where you were doing it on sort of a single-year test period, would you not have to do the same thing, sort of if you were undertaking a productivity initiative, build that into that base-year rates?


MS. FRANK:  You would only see one year, whereas in this you see the five years of savings from initiatives.  Therefore, you get to see the multiple benefits from some of these initiatives, which you wouldn't see in a one-year.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I could take you to page 39 of the compendium.  Again, I don't want to actually get into the specifics of the issues.  But this is what you were talking about, right?  This is a breakdown of the various initiatives, sort of the costs savings for each of those years.  I think this...


MR. ROGERS:  This is an answer to an interrogatory, I take it, is it, Mr. Rubenstein?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  This is the -- the previous page is the actual wording of the interrogatory.


MS. FRANK:  I believe this was trying to look at the areas with the work programs and how the productivity savings flowed into the aspects of the work.  Once again, this area really is better asked for panel 2.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I don't want -- I agree I don't want to get into the specifics of each of those plans.  My understanding was this was essentially just, you had provided productivity savings in the evidence, and this was just sort of the derivation of those numbers.


MS. FRANK:  I believe it's trying to do the link between the savings and where, in the line of business, you would find them, yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And am I correct at sort of a high level -- and I believe this was discussed at the technical conferences -- there's a plan in place to achieve the savings for each of the initiatives?


MS. FRANK:  Yes, there is.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  So if there's a plan in place, then you built in sort of the savings that you think that you can achieve.


So would it be fair to say, then, you won't be seeking any additional productivity savings after this application has been approved?  You found all of the savings.  There is no more.  You won't be looking for any more productivity savings?


MS. FRANK:  No.  I would say the company will continue to try to find ways to operate more efficiently.


What we've got here is a very comprehensive examination of items that we both believe we have plans to achieve and stretches that we impose upon ourselves to achieve, and the outsourcing contract will be an area where I would say we have imposed quite a large stretch in terms of what we think we'll be able to negotiate.


It may not be possible to get that far.  If we don't get it, we will look for other efficiencies to make up the shortfall.  So we're not finished, is the characterization.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if you do other -- if there are other productivity initiatives that you undertake in 2016 and 2017, 2018, there is a new process that, you know, today one wouldn't know about, there's no sharing of those benefits with ratepayers?  At least within the period of the plan, the 2015 to 2019 plan?


MS. FRANK:  Just like there is no expectation that if we fail to meet these productivity savings, which I have characterized as very aggressive, that we will come back and ask for more.


No, I think that we're saying we're living with our plan, and I believe that is exactly what the Board expects the utility to do, to come up with a five-year plan and stay within that five-year plan, not come back for adjustments that would be within the utility's control.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, I think we sort of discussed this with respect to sort of benchmarking, but am I correct that you haven't conducted a third-party review or independent analysis of your capital plan for this project -- for this application?


MS. FRANK:  There is no third-party review.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if I could take you to page 19 of the compendium, this is another -- this is from the RRFE report, and this is under the section:  "Tools and methods to support proposed investments."


If we turn to page 20, just sort of over the page, sort of the second paragraph, the last sentence of that paragraph:

"In addition, the Board sees merit in receiving the evidence of third-party experts as part of a distributor's application, while retaining its own third-party expert, in relation to a review and assessment of the distributor's asset management and network investment plans, along with other evidence filed by the distributor."


So am I correct you didn't provide any third-party experts to review the distributor's -- your application with respect to your capital plan?  There's no review or assessment of your asset management or network investment plan?


MS. FRANK:  The company has introduced several new tools that, actually, our third panel will bring to your attention.  And in that, our assessment is the tools that we're using and the capability we have, our understanding of the system is superior to having a third party come and do some sampling.


Our expectation is that, particularly, our asset analytics tool -- which we hope to demonstrate for you on panel 3 -- and our prioritization tools are industry-leading tools.  And therefore having a third party come and make selective sampling to determine is it a good idea, is likely inferior to what we have done.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Have you had a third-party review of those asset analytic tools that you are using as a basis for the capital --


MS. FRANK:  Panel 3 will talk about asset analytics and the tool.  It is a tool that is being looked at by other parties.  It's used in -- selectively by leading industries.


So yes, it's been looked at.  There is no formal report.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So my question is just a little simpler than that.  There is no third-party expert review of those asset analytics tools that underlie your capital plan that you have provided to this Board in making its determination?


MS. FRANK:  We provided no such report.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Thank you very much.


I want to talk about incentives.  Since you call it a custom cost of service application instead of a custom incentive ratemaking, what do you consider the incentives of the plan?


MS. FRANK:  I believe the five-year period in and of itself is an incentive-type aspect.  It allows for the utility to have more certainty as to what the work program would be for the five years, because the Board would have reviewed and determined what the appropriate level is.


Once you do that, you can go away and manage your scheduling of work, your resourcing, your procurement of materials, and you do all of those far more efficiently than if you would do it year by year.


So this five-year has included assumptions that we will have that efficiency, and that efficiency gets passed on to the customers, with lower costs for both our OM&A and our capital programs.


So that's the incentive, I think, that is fundamental to a five-year plan that the Board has put in place for all utilities.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And would you agree with me that one of the main reasons for this sort of revenue requirement increase for the plan is the significant capital program?  That's one of the large drivers, not the largest driver of sort of the revenue requirement increase?


MS. FRANK:  Yes, I would agree the capital is certainly one of the reasons why we chose custom, why I believe the Board actually, when they've done their work, indicated that utilities such as ourselves which have multi-year, large capital programs, need to take the custom approach.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Would I be correct that if you bring into service in any given year less than you forecasted in your application, then at least until you rebase, you will be collecting more from ratepayers than you should?


MS. FRANK:  While that might be hypothetically true, it has not been our experience.  Our experience has been that a distribution system has to respond to the demands of the customers, and our customers have actually required us to either connect them, if they're generators or load customers, or respond to weather-related events so that we are putting in service the capital that is consistent and several years higher than what we had originally identified.


It's a demand-driven type business.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you would agree with me -- I think you used the term --


MS. FRANK:  Hypothetically.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- "hypothetically" -- sort of conceptually, that is what would happen if you --


MS. FRANK:  It is not what I would expect would happen to us.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So then would it be fair to say that one thing Hydro One has to satisfy this Board is that -- not only that its capital plan is appropriate, but that it can also deliver on that capital plan?


MS. FRANK:  Yes, I would agree with that.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is it fair to say that the farther you forecast into the future, the less certain a forecast is?


I don't think that is specific to Hydro One.  I think that would be for any entity in its forecasting approach.


MS. FRANK:  I would agree with you in terms of the specifics or the details.  But as an overall level of investment, so that if we're talking, bottom line, what is the appropriate level of investment, I believe you can accurately forecast out five years what particular activities you're going to do, what particular stations you are going to choose, what particular customers you are going to connect.  That will definitely change and is less certain the further out you go.


But bottom line, I think you're fine.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I could take you to page 44 of the compendium, this is your 2014 corporate scorecard.


At a high level, the corporate scorecard sets out your corporate goals?


MS. FRANK:  That's fair.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And at least to some extent, some compensation is tied to the corporate goals that are put out in the corporate scorecard?


MS. FRANK:  For our managerial staff, that's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we can turn to page 3 of that corporate scorecard, which is page 46 of the compendium, I am looking under the strategic objective:  "Maintaining a commercial culture that increases shareholder value."


There's a performance measure -- this is the fourth one.  This is the last one.  It says:  "In-service capital distribution, percentage of plan."


And your year-end target is 87 percent.  So am I to understand that your corporate target is only to bring in service 87 percent of the planned distribution capital?


MS. FRANK:  No, that would not be our plan.


Let me take a moment, if you will, to talk about this 2014 scorecard.  There are -- we also filed the 2013 scorecard in the same undertaking, and you will notice there are several new items on the 2014 scorecard that were not on the 2013 scorecard.


This would be one of those new areas.  Where there was a new area, our board was struggling with what should they set as a target where they have not measured or monitored this before.  And so the targets tended to be, I would say, preliminary in nature.  They're let us start, and here's where we will start.


Naturally the expectation is that the company should do better than this, and I believe we are on target to do better.  However, panel 2, who has our -- Mr. Struthers on it, will be happy to talk to these targets and what the Board -- because he would have been involved in the discussions.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So this year for the Hydro One distribution you're in under IRM, am I correct, for rates for 2014?


MS. FRANK:  Yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  There is no sort of Board-approved number for in-service additions for 2014?


MS. FRANK:  That's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we look sort of one line up on page 46 of the compendium, this is in-service capital transmission.  My understanding is there is a Board-approved number because you're in the second year of your transmission from the previous cost-of-service application.


MS. FRANK:  Right.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And am I correct that the planned number in the in-service capital transmission is not actually a Board-approved number that the Board approved in the last transmission case?  It is actually a lower number or revised number based on your internal budgeting process?


MS. FRANK:  I struggle to keep -- but we've got transmission and distribution applications happening very much at the same time, and I struggle a little bit to keep all those numbers in my head.  So I don't actually recall.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You don't recall that --


MS. FRANK:  I don't recall what the specific numbers are, in terms of the approved from the -- it was a '13/'14 proceeding for transmission, and what was the approved in-service in that one versus what the business plan and the scorecard is based on.  Are those numbers different?  I suspect they are, since the business plan would have been based on a following year's effort rather than what the Board-approved was.  So a year-later's planning exercise for transmission.  But I don't actually recall what the numbers are.  I don't do it.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But it is based on sort of the next iteration of the budget?


MS. FRANK:  Yes, it is.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So a couple of questions.  The first question is, why is your percentage of plan for at least transmission 100 percent of your Board-approved amount?  That is what you're collecting with ratepayers.  That's what you say.


Shouldn't the goal of management and the corporate goals to be reaching 100 percent of your Board-approved amount?  Not a number that is below that?


MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me.  Mr. Chairman, we're talking about a transmission business and a distribution case, and they're not -- they're quite different businesses.  I question the relevance of this, but maybe my friend could explain it to us.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I think it is clearly relevant.  I mean, they're both regulated by this Board, and I am trying to -- there we had a Board-approved number to look at, and  I'm just trying to understand then for the future when we have Board-approved distribution amounts how Hydro One will react to that.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I think the comparison is a fair one, Mr. Rogers.


MS. FRANK:  As I indicated, both of these in-service capital transmission and distribution are new metrics for the first time in 2014, and are the targets that are being set here what would be a target if we -- if it was a metric that was in place for two to three years?  I believe it would be quite different.


I think it was, first of all, the interests that the company had in starting to say at the highest level in the company they're going to be looking at in-service capital additions, and that is a priority.  It's not just what you spend, but what you put in-service that is important.


So they shone a light on this.  I normally find if you put in a metric that you know that the Board of your company is looking at, you will give it some focus.


I think that was the purpose.  I'm not convinced the target-setting was given as much, I'll say care for the first year out.  It was more getting the metric in place.  But once again, I didn't participate in those sessions, and Mr. Struthers did, and he is on our next panel.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  We can ask him those questions.  But do you understand from our perspective it would seem to me that the target for the company should be 100 percent of the Board-approved amount?  That is what you're collecting from ratepayers.  You're not collecting a percentage below that.


MS. FRANK:  I understand your perspective.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we can turn back to page 15 of the RRFE report.  Under the line "deferral and variance accounts" for custom IR it says "status quo, plus as needed to track capital spending against plan".


Am I correct that you're not proposing such an account?  You don't think that it's appropriate.  You didn't include one in your application?


MS. FRANK:  We did not include a capital in our -- once again, you are quite right.  We don't think it is appropriate.  We believe we have a track record that demonstrates that there is no issue with our capital spend on our distribution business.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if you think that you're going to meet -- sort of meet the target, you're going to get your Board-approved, you're going to bring in-service the Board-approved amount, why do you not think it is appropriate to include an account to protect ratepayers?


MS. FRANK:  I believe you have tracking accounts or variance accounts if there's -- either two things happen:  One, it is a new area and therefore you cannot accurately forecast it because you have no experience, or two, there's been a demonstration that you have failed to deliver on that in the past.


I think neither of those apply.  So I don't believe it is necessary in our case for our distribution business.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that's even though that you're setting on the distribution amount, that targets are 85 percent of plan?



MS. FRANK:  I thought we agreed you would ask Mr. Struthers about that?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But do you understand the concern?


MS. FRANK:  I understand your concern.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  I am moving to another section.  I don't know if you -- if this is sort of an appropriate time to take a break.


MR. QUESNELLE:  This would probably be good if you're moving to a new section, Mr. Rubenstein.  We'll rise for 20 minutes then.  Let's come back at 20 after 11:00.  Thank you very much.

--- Recess taken at 10:57 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:22 a.m.

 MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.


 Okay.  Mr. Rubenstein, you were just heading into a new area, so whenever you are ready.


 MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.


 I want to discuss outcomes.  And I understand, in your application, you're proposing a set of eight outcome measures which you have identified and set targets before.  And I believe that you will report on these -- you know, the actuals to your targets on these outcomes every year; is that sort of -- do I have that correct?


 MS. FRANK:  Yes, you do.


 MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I have reproduced at page 47, beginning at page 47, an excerpt from the evidence which sort of outlines the outcomes and the targets.  And under section 3.2, page 47, it sort of lists the -- it lists the areas that you are planning to measure, and then the other pages, it sets those targets in some more detail.


 How would Hydro One describe the targets it is setting for its measures?  Conservative?  Ambitious?


 MS. FRANK:  I would say they would be consistent with our plan expectation to maintain the level of performance of our system at fourth quartile.  So we're not expecting improvement over this five-year period, and therefore you shouldn't be seeing much improvement in the outcome measures either.


 MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So then what would you say that they're -- sort of at a high level, not specific to an individual one, if they're not looking to sort of seek improvement, are they -- how would you describe them, then?  Sort of guarding against, you know, things getting even worse?


 MS. FRANK:  I would say maintaining performance, so you are guarding against worst is likely fine.


 MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And am I correct, none of the outcomes' measures that you have presented or you are proposing measure costs?


 MS. FRANK:  You're correct.  None of them measure costs.  Costs would be part of an input rather than an output.  We attempted output measures.


 MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I can flip -- flip over the page to page 48, I want to walk you through some of them.


The first one is vegetation-caused interruptions, and you're measuring that by number of interruptions; am I correct?


 MS. FRANK:  That's correct.


 MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I'm looking at your 2009 through 2013 numbers, and then looking at your sort of 2014 to 2019 targets, for the targets you're setting, at least up until 2017, 6,300 interruptions based on vegetation there; am I correct?


 MS. FRANK:  That's correct.


 MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we look at your actuals, at least for 2012 and 2013 –- or, sorry, at least for 2010, 2011 and 2013, you're already below that for number of interruptions; am I correct?


 MS. FRANK:  Yes, we are.


 MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And why would you say, then, that sort of a target that sort of provides for more interruptions is an appropriate outcome for customers?


 MS. FRANK:  If you look at the other two years, the 2009 and the 2012, they're considerably, in the case of 2012, above the target.


 So I think it is something like the vegetation outages vary year by year.  We can obviously see with the number of interruptions, they vary year by year.


 I believe that the targets are set as more a longer-term expectation, trying to normalize that volatility that you get in this metric.


 MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I can go to line 7 on page 48, it says:

"Vegetation management expenditures related to line clearing are expected to be approximately $500 million in the five-year forecast, as compared to $338 million in the preceding five-year period."


So my understanding is you're proposing to spend more money on vegetation management in the test period; am I correct?


 MS. FRANK:  This is actually one of the reasons why this is a focussed area to determine if we're delivering the plan or not, because it is a major focus of our work program to ramp up the vegetation and deal with this issue.


 MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yet at the same time you're not proposing targets that would show that you're getting better with respect to vegetation management, that the number of interruptions would be decreasing?


 MS. FRANK:  This is correct.  It takes longer than the period of time that we've got to actually make significant improvement to the amount of vegetation that we have got in place today.


 MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And it's your position that spending roughly $200 million more in vegetation management over the test period than compared to the previous five years, customers shouldn't expect, you know, a decrease in the number of interruptions?


 MS. FRANK:  Not within this time period.  Beyond this time period, I would say yes.


 MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we can flip to page -- to page 49, this is the second metric.


 This is with respect to pole replacements.  You can see just on page 50 you're measuring that by number of poles replaced.


My question to you is:  Why is the number of poles replaced an outcome?  Why does a customer care about the number of poles you have replaced?


 MS. FRANK:  I'll agree with you that this one is not an outcome specifically.  This is actually looking at the amount of activity that we're doing in this one, how many poles you're putting in.


 And the reason for that is this is an area where, when you look at the number of poles that we have, back on page 49 it says we've got approximately 1.6 million poles in our system.


 And you look at that number and you look at the rate of replacement of poles, there is a concern that we're not moving fast enough, that our poles are aging more quickly than we're replacing them.


 So our focus has been on let's get those poles in and let's get this aged asset replaced more quickly.


 It, strictly, is not an outcome measure.  So I do agree with you, but it does drive right behaviour for us, to get these poles replaced.


 MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And isn't sort of the biggest driver of the number of poles that you can replace, the amount of money you're spending on replacing the poles?


 MS. FRANK:  Yes, it would be a large driver.


It's a -- I want to back it up a little bit.  The driver of it would be how many poles, through our asset condition assessment, the asset analytics that we'll talk about on panel 3, have determined truly are in desperate need for replacement.


 So it is more which poles, what do you need to do, and then it is both the cost and the number; they go hand in hand, rather than one driving the other.


 MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And why isn't a -- if we're sort of agreeing it is not an outcome, why aren't you proposing, then, to make it an outcome, if this is sort of the point of these measures are supposed to be outcome measures?  I'll give you an example.


 Why isn't interruptions based on pole failure or pole-related issues the measure that you would be using?


 MS. FRANK:  It certainly would be possible.  If you would allow me one moment with these outcome measures, they were a struggle for us to come up with what the measures would be.  And we had no targets on them prior to meeting with stakeholders and suggesting that you really should be targeting where you are heading through the plan.  So that is why you now see targets.


 But trying to come up with what the outcome measures are and how it demonstrates that we're driving the performance out of what the Board would approve as the plan was an incredible struggle.


 We talked with stakeholders on it.  We actually hired an external consultant to advise us on it.  And we've got these eight.


Are they the best measures ever?  I would say no.


 Are they helpful?  Do they drive the right behaviour?  I would say yes.


 But, you know, the company was constantly willing to look at other metrics through the stakeholdering process, through the technical conference process, and here's where we are.


If you're saying would you look at another metric here, one of the challenges we did was we wanted to find ones where we had some history, where we had the data so we could give you historical numbers.  And in the case of poles, trying to separate out the pole failures that related -- should we pick the storm ones, should we pick the ones where a person runs into the pole, separating out why did the failure happen, was it truly an aged pole that failed because it was no longer reliable, I think that was our struggle.


 It's not to say that we couldn't look at all outages driven by poles, but it wouldn't necessarily strictly align to the replacement program.


 MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Why didn't Hydro One consider a metric that would measure the productivity of your pole replacement project?  So if you're spending about $200 million more over the test period, that is sort of -- the cost to replace a pole, you know, is coming down in price.  You're getting better at doing it.


MS. FRANK:  Certainly that information is in the plan when you look at the number of poles per year and the costs per year, so you know what our forecast is.


The actuals in many ways change based upon which poles you're replacing.  If you're replacing poles that are along a roadway, in a ground condition that is easy to work with, the cost per pole is pretty low.  Whereas if you're replacing poles that are off roadways, that are in rock, the cost is incredibly high.


So we wanted to come with metrics that were objective, that couldn't be managed by how we change our work program.  Our numbers are looking bad.  Let's change those poles and do the ones that are along the roadways, in ground, in soil that is easy to deal with, and right away the metric looks good.  So we didn't want them to be metrics that would be subject to variation by management action that isn't appropriate for the longer-term.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So then why would that logic not be the case for other things, if you are -- just a hypothetical, you were going to be below the target for your pole replacement in a year, based on your budget, not just diverting funds from another area to replace more poles, and thus you would be increasing, you know, your actuals for the pole replacement every year for your annual reporting of these outcomes.


MS. FRANK:  What we're saying here is a certain number of pole replacements -- it is -- getting those poles replaced is an urgent requirement.  And what we're saying is, please monitor to make sure that we've got it done, because as you can see, it is a large ramp-up from what we have done in the past.


I'm agreeing that it is not an ideal measure.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I can then you, then, to the next outcome.  This is again on page 50.  This is PCB line equipment.  My understanding is you're measuring the number of pole top transformers with PCB oil to be replaced; is that correct?


MS. FRANK:  That's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you're not measuring the outcome of that activity, reliability, a safety measure, or sort of cost per replacement, correct?


MS. FRANK:  That's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So again, this would not be sort of an outcome measure, would it be?


MS. FRANK:  This is the other measure of all the measures that is not strictly outcome.  That's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we can turn over the page to page 51, and it is also on page 52.  This is with respect to substation refurbishment outcome metric.


You're measuring this one by the number of interruptions.  If I look at your target for 2015 through 2019 and also for this year, it is 155 interruptions per year.


If I look at your sort of actuals, from 2012 and 2013, the last two years, you're already below the targets for the test period.  Am I correct?


MS. FRANK:  That is correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And again, why would you think that setting sort of the target at a number that is higher than the number of interruptions that you've had in the last couple of years is appropriate?


MS. FRANK:  It is much the same answer as I gave you before where you look at the five years and you notice 2010 a rather severe year.  As well, when you look at the work program here, you know by the amount of substations that we're going to be working on that it is an area that we're quite concerned with the performance.


So I think you made the comment earlier about avoiding a deterioration that would have happened otherwise.  I think, without active intervention, we anticipated the substations were going to cause a lot of performance problems.


So we would have expected this to deteriorate further.  The targets, I believe, look at the experience over the past five years, not any one year.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So on page 52, sort of lines ten to 12, you're spending $203 million during the five-year plan, and this is compared to the 46 million in the preceding five years.  My understanding from what you just said is your target is really to look at, to make sure you don't get too much worse, even though you are spending $150 million more.  Is that --


MS. FRANK:  Yes.  It is certainly an area where the there's serious issues with the performance of our stations and deterioration.


I think if you want to explore this further, you would likely be better to talk more with the panel that's managing the work and targeting the performance, which will be panel 3.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I can take you to the fifth outcome measure.  This is distribution line equipment interruptions.  Again, this metric, you're measuring by number of interruptions.


MS. FRANK:  That's correct.  And can I point out an error that is on this sheet?  You see in 2016, that was a typo.  It should have been 73, rather than 83.  It's kind of an obvious typo.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I look at, again, it is sort of the targets for 2014 and 2009, I look at sort of what happened in 2012 and 2013, really it's the same -- same number of interruptions, the same performance, correct?


MS. FRANK:  That's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  This is another area where you're spending a considerable amount more money in this application, correct?


MS. FRANK:  Yes, that is one of the reasons why we're focusing on this outcome area, because of the increase in spend.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as we just discussed, the outcome, though, is essentially to maintain the reliability?


MS. FRANK:  Yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  If I can take you to page 61 of the evidence.  Actually, sorry, I missed a page.


Just getting back to the outcome measures.  Am I correct that if you don't meet the target there's no consequence to Hydro One?  There's no -- you know, you don't have to return any money to customers, or there's no actual consequences?


MS. FRANK:  We have proposed no consequences of either a reward or a penalty associated with these outcome measures.  As I mentioned earlier, it is early days for these outcome measures, and we're feeling it is a bit premature to talk about consequences, rewards, or penalties.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you're filing under the custom IR option, I understand.  Your term about it.  And you are creating these metrics that you are going to annually report on that talk about specific areas that you are focusing on in this application if there is no actual consequence for not meeting them.


What's the incentive then to meet those targets?


MS. FRANK:  As we talked about earlier, to the extent that there is an area that a Board -- in this case the OEB Board -- feels is relevant for them to monitor, it is an area that the company will know that it is under scrutiny and will do its best to meet the Board's targets.  Even the exemption that we're talking about here, we realize there's a target the Board has set for us that we can't meet.


We treat all of these targets very seriously.  I think you need to have a bit of time to see, how are we doing?  Are we acting appropriately?  Are we doing our best to meet the targets?  Before you come up with consequences.


There's one other piece I would like to add.  When we look at, are these the right metrics and are they things that are important to our customers, we have not had the opportunity to actually test these outcome measures with our customers to find out if these are the most important metrics to them.


You notice a lot of them are reliability-oriented, and reliability, while important to our customer, we didn't know if these specific areas -- if we've got the right emphasis, I should say.


So I think we're feeling that rewards or penalties -- and I believe when you look at consequences you need to look at both of those -- they're premature.  Set the target.  See how we behave.  And only when our behaviour has demonstrated to not be sufficiently responsive do I think it is appropriate for you to either give us rewards or penalties to encourage better behaviour.  I don't think you need them yet.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I can just take you to page 61 of the compendium.  This is an interrogatory from Energy Probe.  It essentially asked you the question I just asked you.


And on response A you say:

"Hydro One submits that there should be no consequences beyond those imposed internally by Hydro One's management on responsible staff, at management's discretion, given the myriad of possible causes for any variance."


And I think that is similar to what you just told me before --


MS. FRANK:  Yes, it is.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If there is a myriad of possible reasons for not meeting the target, and you don't believe that there should be any consequences from the Board, then what's the point of the outcomes exercise that seems -- and, you know, it is central to your application?


MS. FRANK:  Having outcomes, just having the outcome as an area that you are going to focus on and reporting on it annually, means that you are more conscious of it and you strive harder to get there.


If you have things that you measure, you target to behave on them.  And that's general management practice; if you measure it, we'll get there.


So that in itself is beneficial.


In other jurisdictions where they have put in both rewards and penalties, there have been times when the behaviour to reach the reward has resulted in larger expenditures, likely not something consistent with what the customers would have preferred.


So I think you've got to be a bit more conscious and careful before you either reward or penalize the company.


Having the metric will mean that it will monitored.  There will be annual reporting.  The Board can see how the company is doing.  They can even help to assess one of the Board's considerations of:  If this plan is on track, is this performance appropriate?


Well, these will be metrics you can look to see is the performance appropriate.  I think the metrics are helpful.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Do you think it would be appropriate for the Board if you are not meeting your metrics, that the Board should reopen the application?


MS. FRANK:  In the extreme, I believe that's exactly what the Board has in mind when they come to custom filing.  They have two areas where they characterized as off-ramps, as items that stop the proceeding.


One is the 300 basis points of earning, plus or minus, it says.  And the other one is a performance one, and it is a little bit vague; it's unacceptable performance.


I think this might help, in terms of what unacceptable performance looks like.  At least you are monitoring it.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you wouldn't say these specific eight metrics should be the benchmark the Board uses in determining if there is unacceptable performance?


MS. FRANK:  I believe that these eight metrics as well as their other annual reporting that they get -- because there is a whole host of system reliability metrics that are reported upon annually -- that the Board would look -- as well as the scorecard, the Board's scorecard, they would look comprehensively at all of these, not just at the eight.  But adding the eight to it, I believe, would be helpful.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So now if we can turn to page 61 of the compendium, this was an excerpt from the evidence and this was your response to various directives from previous proceedings; do you see this?


MS. FRANK:  I do.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the one that you have included from the EB-2013-0141 case was that you will provide information on allocation of smart grid costs, and you have provided the evidentiary reference for that?


MS. FRANK:  Right.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we can turn the page, this is from the settlement agreement in that proceeding.


If we look at that page, we go down to sort of part C there at the bottom, see it says:

"Presentation and reporting of smart grid expenditures in the future"?


If we flip over to the last page, if we go to sort of the first paragraph on -- full paragraph, it says:

"In the custom cost of service application for 2015 to 2019, Hydro One will present its proposal to the Board on how best to report upon the progress and results of its smart grid program as part of the custom cost of service rate application annual reporting."


Why wasn't a smart grid, some outcome, included in your eight outcomes?


MS. FRANK:  I believe it's a stage of the program.  The smart grid area is an area back in the last application where it was early days, and I think today we're at a much different place with smart grid.


I think it is now just kind of how you run the business.  So it will be a little bit difficult to separate it out and treat it as a separate initiative.


If you want to explore this one in terms of the work on smart grid and how that's changed both the types of meters you use, the equipment you put in, for electrical equipment that you are putting in to operate the stations, I think panel 3 could explain a little bit more about how smart grid works today, and why it really wouldn't be a separate item for an outcome measure.


It is how we work today with -- the equipment is different, smarter, that you use today.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask you, then, with respect to responding to previous directives, undertakings from previous proceedings, where in the application you present your proposal on how best to report upon the progress and results of its smart grid program as part of the custom cost of service application annual reporting, besides what you just said?


MS. FRANK:  So there's a few things.


One, there is information that panel 3 can point you to in terms of the -- how we've integrated smart grid into the normal operation of our business.  And panel 3 can talk to that and where it is.


Then there is also, in terms of the other aspect, is what's in the variance account and what we actually spent on this, and panel 2 can talk about the variance account.


And then the last part is how do you allocate this cost to which customer groups, and panel 4 can talk to how you allocate it and what customer groups.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I understand that.  I am not asking about the sort of dollars you're spending that is in the variance account or what the projects you're proposing.


I am asking, you know -- this was with respect to, you know, the undertakings and directives from other proceedings, the reporting upon the progress and results of the smart grid program as part of your application's annual reporting.


MS. FRANK:  Well, Mr. Rubenstein, I believe those places, both in terms of -- what we spent was one way of reporting on what you did, and then what the work programs are that panel 3 is going to deal with also deals with responding to this directive.


I think I gave you the places.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But if we go back to page 61, which is responding, really the only thing that you say you're responding to with respect to that 2013-0141 proceeding is information on its allocation of smart grid costs.  You provide the evidentiary reference.


There isn't that with respect to the reporting?


MS. FRANK:  That is how we summarized it, yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we can turn to page 13 from the compendium, this is, again, from the introduction of the RRFE report.


If you go to the second paragraph, it reads:

"The Board needs to regulate the industry in a way that serves present and future customers, and that better aligns the interests of customers and distributors while continuing to support the achievement of public policy objectives, and that places a greater focus on delivering value for money."


Do you agree with me, sort of at a high level, one of the things the RRFE is trying to press upon the industry is the idea of value for money?


MS. FRANK:  Yes, I would agree with that.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And does Hydro One believe that it's delivering value for money?


MS. FRANK:  I would say Hydro One is -- recognizes this is a priority, and is doing -- is attempting to do that.


Actually, I am going to see if my colleague Mr. Winters might want to weigh in on that, since it is very much a customer-focussed item.


MR. WINTERS:  Thank you, Ms. Frank.


My answer to that question, Mr. Rubenstein, is, yes, we do believe we're delivering value for money.


We are sensitive to our customers' wants and needs.  We understand their concerns with reliability as well as price and cost, and so this overall application and investment plan seeks to balance that.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So even with your very high rates and your fourth quartile performance, you still think you are providing value for money to your customers?


MR. WINTERS:  The application that you have before you, indeed, is meant to maintain current reliability levels, as well as to be very sensitive to the cost of maintaining those reliability, rather than increasing the reliability.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But we would agree that with a sort of revenue requirement increase of, on average, 6.4 percent -- which would be your smoothed approach -- that is a considerable increase per year?


MR. WINTERS:  That is the revenue requirement, yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we can turn just to sort of the final page, page 66 of the compendium, this is from your 2013 customer satisfaction tracking report, "Canadian Residential Benchmarking Study."


And you asked this question of your customers and you compared it to utilities in other provinces.  It is measured by province here, it appears.


When asked the question, only 54 percent of your customers think you provide good value for money; do you see that?


MR. WINTERS:  I do.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is Hydro One happy with that score?


MR. WINTERS:  No, we are not.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And with respect to benchmarking it towards other provinces, it appears, you know, would you agree with me that you're one of the lower, you're on the lower end of this benchmarking study with respect to providing value for money?  In fact, at the top it says "Hydro One Networks is significantly lower than" something, "the best practice province".


MR. WINTERS:  Yes.  The way it is depicted in the tag line at the top, it compares us to the highest jurisdiction, which is at 74 percent, and us being at 54 percent, that is significantly lower.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if you are not happy with the score, how is this application -- which doesn't do much for reliability, if anything, and includes significant rate increases -- going to increase customers' value for money?


MR. WINTERS:  So when we look at overall customer satisfaction or value for money, we know that it's a combination of customer service, reliability, cost, and really overall reputation.  Whereas we are looking to maintain current reliability levels rather than increase them, because we know that it would be more costly to increase, say, from the fourth quartile to the third.


We do know that we need to make improvements in customer service.  I would call that the other form of reliability, more reliably serving our customers, as well as our overall reputation, and those all feed into the customer's perception of us and value for money.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Those are my questions.  Thank you very much.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much, Mr. Rubenstein.


Ms. Lea, I believe you are up next.


MS. LEA:  Yes, unless anyone else wishes to proceed at this time, I have questions.

Cross-Examination by Ms. Lea:


MS. LEA:  Mr. Winters and Ms. Frank, in my first line of questions I would like to explore with you, I guess, how custom can custom IR be, and I think that Mr. Rubenstein has talked to you a little bit about that and how much incentive-base rate-setting has to be included in this.  And I will try to not go over the same ground again.


And the other thing I would ask you to think about when we're having this discussion, it is Staff's view that the allocation of risk between a distributor and its ratepayers should not be different depending on which rate plan the distributor chose to apply under.


So whether it's a custom IR or fourth-generation IR or annual index, Staff is looking to a degree at the allocation of risk between the distributor and its ratepayers, the allocation of benefits between the distributor and its ratepayers.  So some of the questions that I have will deal with that.


The three plans have been designed to accommodate different investment profiles, but our view is that risk allocation and benefit allocation shouldn't depend on that.


So one of the questions that Mr. Rubenstein asked you about was at page 13 of the RRFE report, and that's the chart that we discussed in detail in the technical conferences and Mr. Rubenstein showed you today.  The form of a custom IR is given as custom index.


And I was wondering why you did not propose a custom index, based on your forecasts; in other words, derive or come up with an index based on the forecast that you have provided in your cost-of-service application.


MS. FRANK:  It would have been possible to overlay the productivity that we have built in and the savings with a formulaic-type number.


We see -- we saw no benefit of doing that.  Our value, we thought, was actually in reducing the costs and reducing the revenue requirement and asking the customers to have a less of a rate impact.


So the productivity really went to, are the customers seeing a lower rate request because you have productivity, because you have some savings in your plan, but actually making it into a formula, we thought the custom allowed you to take different methods.  So we didn't think it required you to put a formula on it, and we haven't.


MS. LEA:  So despite the indication in the row labelled "sharing of benefits" that custom IR is to include a productivity factor, rather than do that, you have chosen to factor savings into your forecast costs?


MS. FRANK:  Productivity factor, to me, is a broad term.  I see that as including areas of being more efficient, being more productive.


So do you have any productivity built into your application?  Is that factor included?  And I would say, yes, that factor is included.


I did not read this to be so narrow as to say you had needed a number.


MS. LEA:  And do you equate productivity with cost efficiency and cost savings?


MS. FRANK:  Yes, I do.


MS. LEA:  I wanted to explore some of the total annual savings that you are proposing in Exhibit A, tab 19, schedule 1, and it's table 2, which appears on page 4, but I wasn't sure whether I should be asking you that or wait for panel 2.


MS. FRANK:  I would much appreciate if you wait for panel 2.


MS. LEA:  All right.


MR. ROGERS:  They won't.  She would.


MS. LEA:  I'm sorry, Mr. Rogers?


MR. ROGERS:  They won't appreciate it, but she would.


MS. LEA:  Very well.


You've also indicated in response to Staff interrogatory that, given your forecasted productivity savings are ambitious, you don't expect to achieve additional efficiency gains over the five-year term, but any unexpected additional gains may be redirected into work programs and projects which benefit the customer.


Is that still your position?


MS. FRANK:  Yes, it is.


MS. LEA:  And do you see that, going back to the statement that I made earlier about the allocation of risks and benefits between the distributor and its customers, do you see that as being equivalent to the upfront efficiency savings that are put into the annual index and fourth-generation IR plans through the application of stretch factors?


Do you see that as equivalently of benefit to customers?


MS. FRANK:  I would have indicated that what we put in upfront, in terms of the productivity, is equivalent to the stretch factors.  As a matter of fact, if I look at the Board's inflation minus productivity, productivity is a base, zero.  Stretch -- and where we are put in in the PEG at .6, there's still an increase assumed of 1.1 percent, excluding capital.  Capital would be on top of that, if you qualified for any capital -- and certainly the level of spend that we're dealing with, we would have qualified.


So the Board is already looking at items of something in excess of a 1 percent.  If I look at our OM&A, it is basically flat.  So I would say we have included the productivity that the Board has assumed in a fourth-generation -- actually, more than that, when I look at our OM&A spend, which is for all intents and purposes flat through the period.


So I think it is there upfront.  The piece you asked about, if you find more and you do more work -- which is what we intend to do if we find incremental savings, we will accomplish more work with those dollars -- I think that goes beyond what is in -- so actually, I think we're giving the customers more than what you have in a fourth-generation.


And fourth-generation, if they find more than what the - that in excess of 1 percent OM&A-type increase is, the utilities get to keep it.  We're not suggesting we keep it.  We're suggesting we do more work.


MS. LEA:  Why only OM&A?


MS. FRANK:  I pick OM&A because capital -- once again, our capital expenditure increase is slightly less than 1 percent per year.  But in reality, it is the in-service that is important from a customers and a rate perspective.


And we are a very intensive capital -- we're in a very intensive capital period right now, where the amount of in-service additions compared to depreciations is much higher, and that's why we're seeing such a large increase in the rate impact.  It is the capital program.


When I look at what's happening to rate base over this period, it grows by about, you know, over one-and-a-half billion dollars.  It is a large increase.


So I think that is over and above what you would get in the inflation minus productivity.  There would be the capital adjustment.


Spend levels, though, we still -- we're well within the -- we're under the 1 percent that would be allowed, spend.


MS. LEA:  Another topic that you discuss with Mr. Rubenstein initially was the total factor productivity, and you indicated that you have concern with the Board's industry-wide productivity analyses, and you're an outlier there, and you have been excluded from that analysis.


But can't Hydro One measure its own total factor productivity growth over time in order to demonstrate your own productivity?


As you pointed out to Mr. Rubenstein when you looked at the page that he gave you out of the Board's report, your productivity is actually improving.


And we noticed the same thing when we had a look at the numbers you provided in answer to that Staff interrogatory.  It was Exhibit 3.3, Staff Interrogatory 60.  Thanks very much for attempting to produce those numbers.  It looked to us like your productivity was actually improving to some degree over the time period.


Could you not do your own productivity analysis to demonstrate to the Board how you are succeeding?


MS. FRANK:  This is an area that, once again, is going to be handled by panel 2.  They did actually prepare this response that you see to Staff 60.


MS. LEA:  I can tell you that I am not going to cross-examine anyone in detail on those numbers.


MS. FRANK:  I think even at a high level you would be better off to -– because that's the group that would actually have to come up with the productivity metric, if we came up with a metric.  So they will be able to explain why we haven't done it and what the challenges are far better than I can, even at a high level.


MS. LEA:  So at this time, at least, you do not intend to undertake any kind of benchmarking or analysis to establish a baseline for your productivity performance?


MS. FRANK:  We have no such plans.


MS. LEA:  Mm-hmm.  Okay.  One moment.


I wonder -- the Board's report, the RRFE report at page 12, says that:

"To ensure that the benefits from greater efficiency are appropriately shared throughout the rate-setting term between the distributor, its shareholder and the distributor's customers, the expected benefits will be taken into account in establishing the rate adjustment mechanisms applicable to each rate method through the X factor."


As you don't have an X factor, do you not see this as an inequity regarding the sharing of risks and benefits between your ratepayers and Hydro One, as opposed to other distributors and their ratepayers?  Or is your answer the same, that you have already included the savings for your ratepayers?


MS. FRANK:  I would say we've given an exhibit, A-19-1, where we identify both the activities and the amount of savings that we're targeting.


So rather than just a one number with no understanding of the how or what drove the one number, we've actually got a detailed plan of work that can be examined and determined if it's sufficient, if you feel that we haven't.


We think we have been very aggressive, but the Board can look at these and determine.  And our intention is to pass those on to our customers by lowering our costs by those savings.


So I think it is already in there, not in exactly the same formulaic approach, but in detail, yes, it is there.


MS. LEA:  So it would be your view that there is no necessity for the Board to impose an externally derived productivity factor for your application?


MS. FRANK:  I would even go further and say the company has set an aggressive challenge that is higher than what you find when you look at the inflation minus productivity numbers that come out of the Pacific Economics Group's analysis, that that allows for a faster rate of increase in spending than we've got in our application.


MS. LEA:  I wonder if I could ask you to look at the total annual savings for a moment.  I only want to ask a question at a high level.  So that's Exhibit A, tab 19, schedule 1, at page 4.  It is table 1.


If you look at just the line "Cumulative annual savings included in forecasts" -- oh, it is table 2, sorry.


MS. FRANK:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  Yes, there we go.  Thank you very much.


So just the bottom line there, it looks to us that the savings curve -- if I can put it that way -- drops off sharply from 2015 onwards.  In other words, that the incremental savings each year are considerably less as you move farther out into the plan period.


Do you have any comment on that?


MS. FRANK:  I would say that that is what you often find when people aggressively pursue productivity.  The early years of finding the productivity are much more productive than the later years.  You know, I think they characterize it "the low-hanging fruit."  You get a lot in the early period, and then each additional dollar you go after gets more and more difficult, both to identify and then to extract.


So this is, I would say, a normal type curve that you would see.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  I will deal with that further with panel 2, perhaps.


With Mr. Rubenstein, you discussed the fact that you are excluded from the productivity study that the Board has done, but I could not find anything that indicated that you were excluded from the total cost benchmarking aspect of those studies.


And it's my understanding that the stretch factor is based on the total cost benchmarking.  So when I looked at the RRFE report and the report of the Board on rate-setting parameters and benchmarking under the Renewed Regulatory Framework -- that was issued on November 21st, 2013 and was corrected on December 4th, 2013 -- I found the exclusion from the productivity study, but I could not find any exclusion of Hydro One Networks -- remotes is excluded, but not Networks from the total cost benchmarking.


Do you believe, in fact, you are excluded from the total cost benchmarking as well?


MS. FRANK:  No, I don't.  Our numbers are in there.  So they've done -- they have made an attempt to put us in, yes.


MS. LEA:  And the stretch factors are driven or derived from the benchmarking, not the total factor productivity?


MS. FRANK:  This is correct.


MS. LEA:  Why, then, do you believe the stretch factor that results for Hydro One is inappropriate?


MS. FRANK:  I believe the analysis -- we had commented early -- actually, many times on the PEG report and their approach, Pacific Economics Group's approach to doing this analysis, where we don't think they adequately reflect the nature of our system that we run, the -- or the customers we serve or where those customers are located.  That the adjustments they make, when they come up with what they believe is their economic level of costing, doesn't really reflect what our distribution business must do.


MS. LEA:  I wonder if you could elaborate on that for us, please, because as pointed out, your fourth quartile in-service quality and your costs are relatively high.


You have indicated that low density and vast geography are contributors to that.  Can you explain what else might contribute to that situation for the company?


MS. FRANK:  Well, I will add one more.  I imagine with time I could come up with more, but one of them would be the nature of the system that we have.


We have very much a radial system, a system that goes out to reach customers with a line.  It is not a system that allows for multiple ways of serving a customer, like a lot of urban -- they have loops, and if there is a fault they can serve the same customer from one path or another path.


That is not how our system works in our distribution.  It's got long, skinny lines off to very remote areas.  There is a break in that line and everybody beyond that break is out of power.


So it's the nature of the system that we've built as well that results in our performance being fourth quartile, and the cost to maintain it also higher because now we can't just do a switch and have people back on and deal with the repair at a convenient nine-to-five-type time.  That is not how we can work.  We have to get somebody out there, whatever hour it is, and diagnose the problem because we've got people out of power.


So it is far more costly to operate a system that is built the way ours is built.


And on the other hand -- given our geography, again -- would you really want us to go out and have redundant ways of feeding all of these customers?  The cost would be quite large.  So it's the geography that interferes with that.  That is just another example.


MS. LEA:  I have heard you refer to or perhaps you referred to yourselves as the "distributor of last resort" as well.  That is, you serve the areas of the province that are typically not the densities that drove the formation of other municipal utilities?


MS. FRANK:  I think that's a characterization that has been around for a long period of time.


MS. LEA:  So going back to the question of benchmarking.  What benchmarking studies, if any, are you planning to carry out over the five-year plan term to justify the Board's trust in your forecast for the next application or to provide an empirical foundation for your costing?


MS. FRANK:  I don't know that we have any specific plans at this time for the benchmarking.  We would naturally, if the Board ordered something, we would respond to what the Board would order.


MS. LEA:  One moment, please.


I wanted to ask a couple of questions about customer communications.  In response to a VECC interrogatory -- it was Exhibit 1.4.  It was VECC Interrogatory 26(c) -- they asked you what your intention was regarding notifying customers of your rate plan, particularly the rate mitigation plan that you had proposed.


You indicated that you would develop a customer communication plan based on the outcomes of the rate application process and reflecting the Board's decision.


That is all very well, but is there anything that you have planned now to articulate the value for customers, so the outcomes, that kind of thing?  What have you got planned?


MR. WINTERS:  From an overall customer communication standpoint, it is incumbent upon us to continue to educate our customers, as well as to show them the value that we do deliver as a company to them, and again, based on the geography and based on the nature of the system and so on.


In regards to the impact on their costs and rates, we will wait until we have an outcome from this proceeding before we communicate that any further.  But from an overall customer communications, we need to continuously listen to our customers, as well as communicate with them, everything that we are doing, and probably do a better job at giving them the understanding of what we do and the value we provide to them.


MS. LEA:  Well, do you have a strategy now that would assist us in understanding how you intend to articulate the merits or the value that you are providing?


MR. WINTERS:  It is not part of this plan, no.


MS. LEA:  Well, how will you sell this plan to your customers?  We have rising electricity costs and bills in general.  And there is not going to be an improvement in service levels, as you have indicated, and most of the targets are flat.  If a customer looked at this application, would they not say I'm paying more for getting the same?


MR. WINTERS:  What we have outlined in the evidence as well as how we will have to communicate with our customers, is that our target, being sensitive to reliability as well as to costs, our balanced approach is to maintain those same levels of reliability in order to keep costs down.


We have heard from our customers that they are very sensitive to costs and overall price.  For the aspects of the bill that we do control we need to make sure that we keep those at the levels that we are -- are planning to, while maintaining reliability.


If we were to take steps to increase that reliability, say, from fourth-quartile to third-quartile, there would be an incremental cost, and the revenue requirement or rate increases would be that much higher.


MS. LEA:  I understand why you are not seeking to move your reliability upwards, but I am trying to figure out how to communicate best to customers about the value that you are providing as a result of this application.


Now, we asked you in an interrogatory, which was Exhibit 2.3, Staff Interrogatory 14, about how you would put a value on the anticipated benefits that will accrue to customers in relation to these eight areas of focus or outcomes.


And you indicated in answer to that interrogatory that a net present value analysis would not suitably capture the value to customers.  And you have indicated further that it is problematic to monetize, for example, minimizing lengthy customer outages.


Is there no way you can communicate the value for the customer of minimizing lengthy outages?  There could be -- you could look at the costs that you will avoid, for example, as a result of the work you are planning to do over the next five years, or are there avoided costs to customers that you could communicate about to them?


MR. WINTERS:  Yes.  Those are all valid.  We can, for example, communicate with our customers and let them know that doing proactive maintenance or preventive maintenance is much more cost-effective than doing reactive maintenance.


So planning to replace a pole and undergoing that effort versus doing it reactively, as Ms. Frank said, as a response to an outage, so right away they're in a bad spot from an outage standpoint, and then the cost to actually replace that same pole in a reactive means is significantly more expensive.  So that would be an example of the cost avoidance and what we are endeavouring to do as part of this overall plan.


MS. LEA:  I understand you are planning to do it.  My question was, are you going to communicate that to customers, and if so, how?


MR. WINTERS:  We communicate with our customers through various means.  We do send them direct mail.  We do communicate with them via the bill and bill inserts, as well as, we also conduct focus groups with our customers.


MS. LEA:  Are you going to talk to them about the costs that the company will avoid as a result of using planned, rather than reactive maintenance?


MR. WINTERS:  Yes, we will.


MS. LEA:  And have you calculated the avoided costs to the customers of minimizing outages or minimizing lengthy outages to them?


MR. WINTERS:  No, we have not done that calculation specifically.


MS. LEA:  What would be involved in doing that calculation, and can you do it?


MR. WINTERS:  It's a very good question.  It's not something that I can answer right here on the spot.


MS. LEA:  Do you plan to do any kind of analysis of that?


MR. WINTERS:  As we communicate with our customers the benefit of avoiding costs of reactive maintenance, we will have to figure out the most effective means of getting that message across.  I can't say whether we will actually try to do that level of quantitative calculation or whether we will take other steps to get that message across.


MS. LEA:  I mean, you understand where I am coming from with these questions.  The RRFE report talks about value for customers and the value proposition.  I want to make sure that we understand fully what it is that you are going to communicate to customers about that value.


Is there anything further that you wish to add at this time about how you are best going to communicate that value proposition to customers?


MR. WINTERS:  Not at this time.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


Now, I think that you would be the person to ask.  What's the status of the ombudsman investigation at this time and the recovery efforts?


MR. WINTERS:  I am that person, so I can answer that question.  The status of the ombudsman investigation is that it is still actively underway.  The ombudsman's team is still in data-gathering mode, as well as conducting the interviews.  From the latest information we have received, I believe they're planning on issuing their report, their final report, in the early to spring of next year.


As far as the overall customer service recovery effort, we have made tremendous progress over the last number of months, and we have reduced the number of customers that have been experiencing the adverse impacts of our operations to levels that I would say are similar to where we were before going live with the new system.


However, we're not stopping there.  We know that we need to get better in all that regard.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


I would like to turn to some other aspects of the application.  The annual adjustments -- and you can let me know if some of the specifics I need to direct to another panel.


Mr. Chairman, I am moving on to a slightly different area.  Did you wish me to -- did you wish to take a break now, or shall I continue for a period of time?


MR. QUESNELLE:  Why don't we continue for another 15 minutes or so.


MS. LEA:  Perfect.  Thank you, sir.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.


MS. LEA:  With respect to annual adjustments.  Now, the RRFE report states at page 19 that the Board expects a distributor's application under the custom IR to demonstrate its ability to manage within the rates set, given that the actual costs and revenues are anticipated to vary from forecast.


Ms. Frank, you have indicated that Hydro One has a robust rate plan and is prepared to live with it for the five years.  Why do you need annual adjustments?


MS. FRANK:  Hydro One plans to live with the plan that we put forward for anything -- any actions that are within the company's ability to control.


However, if there are external factors that happen, either through the industry or the environment -- and maybe I can use this to illustrate the three types of adjustments we have talked about.


We talk about annual adjustments, and the large one there that's routine -- we see happen on an annual basis for all utilities -- is the return on equity calculation.  That's a marketplace-type of adjustment.  So we would expect that the marketplace adjustment would be rolled through on an annual basis.


So you need to have an adjustment for things that happen external to the company.


MS. LEA:  Can I just stop you there?  Because I did want to ask a little bit -- certainly you can go on with the other ones.  I wanted to ask you a little bit that about that ROE adjustment.


Is that not something that you could live with for the five-year period should the Board decide that it's not appropriate to update you annually on ROE?


MS. FRANK:  No.  The company's position would be, the expectation of our company and our credit rating agencies and our bondholders, is that we earn a return consistent with what the marketplace would see is appropriate.  Therefore, the Board's annual resetting is something that we believe is essential to be done for this utility.


If we look historically, there have been some times when rates have been coming down and we have reset through each of the come-down.


I don't know what the forecast will be going forward.  Our priority is we have whatever the marketplace sets as the appropriate rate.  That's what the Board looks at and sets each year.  We want to follow it.


MS. LEA:  And within the context of this plan, then, the calculation of that ROE, is that on all of your rate base, or just the new or coming into service rate base that is proposed as part of this plan?


MS. FRANK:  It is on the entire rate base; that's typically how it's always calculated, is on the portion of equity of the entire rate base.


MS. LEA:  And do you intend to update the -- your - okay.  I'm trying to avoid an acronym here.  Payment in lieu of taxes, annually, since that payment in lieu of taxes is derived from ROE?


MS. FRANK:  Yes.  We would update -- that would be part -- when you talk about the cost of capital update, it's the return on equity and the taxes associated or payments in lieu of taxes, the short-term debt, which the Board also identifies, and also our long-term debt, including any issued debt that we've got where the issued debt -- the coupon rate is different than what we would have put in our plan.


So the whole cost of capital aspect, we would see updating for, using current factors year by year, consistent with the direction we get from the Board and whatever new approach they may take, as I know they're currently studying it.  We would follow the Board direction.


MS. LEA:  So -- but you don't propose -- I'm sure this is obvious in the rate plan, but I just want to make it clear that OM&A and capital additions will not be updated annually.


MS. FRANK:  Or in-service additions, you're correct, because those are all within management's control, whereas the marketplace and return expectations are outside of management's control.


MS. LEA:  Why do you need an update for or adjustment for working capital?


MS. FRANK:  Working capital was actually an adjustment that was proposed at one of our stakeholder sessions.  And the idea there is the working capital amount that the company has will be greatly impacted by the cost of the commodity.


So when we issue bills to customers, we're the agent that issues the bill.  Our receivables will change with commodity prices, if they -- it looks like they're likely going to go up.  So the working capital requirements would likely increase.


And the suggestion was that that was once again commodity externally driven.  It is not the company that is driving this; it's an external.  All of these adjustments are beyond company's management action.


MS. LEA:  I understand that this was proposed as a result of stakeholder discussions, but what does the company think about this?  Did you think you should be updating your working capital annually?


MS. FRANK:  When we heard their arguments that, indeed, this could have a material impact on working capital, when you hear the various forecasts as to what commodity prices might do and when you look at our receivables, it seemed -- indeed, it fit the criteria for an annual adjustment.


So something that can be done mechanically, that is known with assurance, that there is no review needed.  It's a number that will be in actual audited results.


So it has that level of independence and externality that we thought would qualify it.  So we thought, yes, it was a very good idea.


MS. LEA:  Now, as I understand it, the cost of power is about 60 percent of the working capital requirement for Hydro One Networks?


MS. FRANK:  Can I take that subject to check?


MS. LEA:  Please, yes.  Let us know if I am incorrect.


Are you proposing to update any element of the working capital allowance, other than the cost of power?


MS. FRANK:  That was the only element that we were looking at.  It was driven by the change in the commodity price that is included in the bill, and therefore the receivables.


MS. LEA:  And in your view, were there no forecasts of the cost of power that could be used to avoid such an update?  Something from the Ontario Power Authority, for example?


MS. FRANK:  We have not used any such number to update.  I have no idea how accurate it would be.


This would be a very mechanical-type adjustment that would be necessary.  Since we believe you've got to make mechanical adjustments for the marketplace returns on capital, then this would be simple to roll in with the same filing.  Far better to use what's actually happened,  rather than a forecast, which we would, then, once again worry about the accuracy of.


MS. LEA:  If the Board declined to allow this annual adjustment, is variance in the cost of power something that you believe you could manage within your five-year plan?


MS. FRANK:  The challenge is it is a really big external unknown.  I don't know how big that could impact the working capital.  So I think that it would be problematic, when you look at the forecasts as to what might come with commodity prices over the five-year period.  I don't know if we could manage it.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  Thank you.


Then the last -- the clearing of variance accounts was the other annual update that you were proposing.  And for that, the -- okay.  Here's another acronym.  I don't know whether I can come up with it immediately.  The EDVAR report of the Board still applies.  Anybody know what that stands for?  Electricity Distributor Variance Account... oh, the Electricity Distributor Variance Account Report.  Yes.  Thank you.


That that report still applies to the way that those variance accounts would be dealt with; is that correct?


MS. FRANK:  Yes.  I believe it is.


MS. LEA:  Now, with respect to this idea of risk-sharing that I began with, these annual updates that you suggested, do you believe these are the sorts of annual updates that the Board should be making for any distributor?


MS. FRANK:  Yes, I do, because I believe these items can go either way to the -- adding to the rates or reducing rates.  And when we look at the cost of capital aspects and we look historically, interest rates came down.  The return on equity came down.  That was certainly to the customer's benefit.


So allowing the utility to hang on to it during a period of decline is not appropriate sharing with customers.


I would think that -– well, I don't know where interest rates are going to go and where returns are going to go in the future, but I think on an annual basis, adjusting for them is appropriate equity for customers and the utility.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


I wonder if I could ask you some questions about unforeseen events.  And I expect this was the second category that you wanted to talk about when I interrupted you at the beginning.


And your description is at Exhibit A, tab 4, schedule 3.  It is a five-page exhibit, "Adjustments outside of the normal course of business."


Now according to the Board's RRFE report, the treatment of unforeseen events will be the same under all three rate-setting approaches.


But you have proposed some specific items in this Exhibit A, tab 4, schedule 3.  Does Hydro One accept that the Board's policies for Z factor as unforeseen events is set out in the July 14th, 2008 report?  I think that is the last one in which they were substantively discussed.  That's the report of the Board on third-generation incentive regulation.  That those general policies still apply to you?

MS. FRANK:  Yes, I would indicate that they do apply.  I think what we've tried to do with what we've labelled "outside the norm" is trying to use more plain language, because a Z factor is certainly something that you need to be in the industry to understand what a Z factor is.


"Outside the norm" is, I think, more readily understood.  So what we have tried to do with this exhibit, the A-4-3, is capture what the Board, I think in the past, would have characterized at Z factors.  So --


MS. LEA:  I have no quarrel with the nomenclature.  What I am trying to understand, though, or what I would ask you to explain is what you are actually seeking from the Board through the use of this exhibit.


Are these examples of things that you might apply for?  Or are you seeking some approval of the categories?


MS. FRANK:  The piece that I think would require some attention for this panel at this time would be the materiality threshold.


We have suggested as a materiality threshold that you use 0.5 percent of the revenue requirement, which, in our case, is $7.5 million.  Now, that $7.5 million is significantly different from the 1 million that is used by the Board as the upper limit.  It is just -- everything -- once you get to a size where it is a million dollars, everybody bigger than that still stays at a million, and we're thinking that that will result in too many items outside the norm being identified over this five-year period.


We think the company should find a way to manage, even if it is an external factor, with something that is under $7.5 million.


So that piece of it, I think this panel will need to decide, is that the right threshold?  Now, that threshold works both ways.  So if it's something that would have been to the benefit of the customer, that would have been the $2 million benefit to the customer, we would say, no, you don't pick that one up, because it's not large enough.


Our notion is, pick a threshold.  Make it go both ways.  We use the 0.5 that was in the Board's identification of thresholds for materiality, then applied it to our size of revenue requirement and said, we think 7.5 is right for Hydro One.  I think the Board needs to decide that.


In terms of the areas, I think we were just trying to be more explicit.  We talked about government direction.  We talked about changes in codes.  And we talked about items that we knew that were likely going to change the request at some point, regional plans, and that really extreme weather, which is often resulted in a Z factor, I believe these were illustrative.


Any request would come at a later time.  This panel needs to do nothing with those today, in my opinion.  They can wait and see if some large, highly impactive external factor comes forward, and it would be literally just that factor.  We would likely provide a request for either some type of a variance account or a rider, if it was going to be large and we needed cash to deal with it.


But that request will come at a later time, if we're lucky, in the five-year period there are no such requests.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Ms. Lea, if you are leaving that area, just one -- I was just going to ask about the aggregation.  Perhaps if you are going along that line...


MS. LEA:  Yeah, I just wanted to summarize to say -- thank you, sir -- so what you're seeking here is --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Certainly.


MS. LEA:  -- a finding or approval of the materiality threshold.  But you accept that if you had to apply for any of these extraordinary events, the Board's general criteria of causation, materiality, and prudence would apply with that new materiality threshold.


MS. FRANK:  Yes, that's true.


MS. LEA:  Thank you, thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Ms. Frank, so just looking at the notion as you described it, and that would be symmetrical, and that you would be looking at the .5 percent applied to your revenues would be 7.5 million.  Is there anything within the scheme that would recognize that you may have four or five discrete elements of slightly below the threshold, but really when you're looking at revenue shifts, whether it be high or low, they could become substantial when you look at them in aggregate?  Do you have any thought as to why or why not the scheme has that in it?  I'm not sure if it does.  But if not, why not?


MS. FRANK:  Our thinking was you look to the driver.  So we were looking for that new legislation that comes in place -- things like the smart-meter piece that happened in the past -- or the change in some type of an environmental requirement that you have to do, and we're looking item by item and saying, what is that going to cost the utility to deal with that?


Our intention was not to aggregate them across the whole series of them.  And I do agree with you that they could add up to a larger challenge for the company to manage.


I suspect if they were going the way where it was reducing our costs and it was several items, then it would be an intervenor or the Board who would bring it to our attention if they wanted to aggregate them across.


I think we were thinking event by event.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  To the extent -- and I understand your portrayal of it -- that if there were -- and let's talk about it going one side versus the other -- you had freed up revenues.  You had things that reduced your costs that you hadn't foreseen, and your intention is to just do more work, find a way to spend that money in a fashion which maintains the reliability and do more of what you had planned on doing.  You might do it a little more aggressive or get ahead of your schedule on that, if I have characterized that properly.


How would the Board take notice of it?  How would intervenors take notice of it?  Like, do you think -- is there anticipation in your mind that we would have the ability to monitor in such a fashion that, while the work plan has changed, but it's because there is additional dollars available, is a value proposition still there?  I am just wondering to what degree the Board would have to monitor such an event to know whether or not it did want to intervene and take notice of exactly what the underpinning drivers were.


MS. FRANK:  I think, first of all, your characterization of spend more on the work program if money freed up was really something we talked about with productivity.  But I think one could assume that it carries over to externally driven changes as well, rather than internal productivity.


I think, in this, in terms of the Board taking notice, the one thing that's going to make it easier is, these changes happen to all distributors.  They're not going to single out Hydro One and make environmental rules or make some type of piece of legislation that is just about Hydro One.  It will be -- or there is a code that comes down from the OEB.  It will be for all distributors.


So in terms of your taking note of it, you will be aware of it because of your constant monitoring of the industry and the various applicants that have come in.


When you see that fundamental change, much like the Board did when they saw smart meters, they determined that was a generic issue, and they needed to come up with a generic approach to deal with that generic issue.


So I believe you will -- like I say, if this happens, if there is such an event, you will be well aware of it without our needing to come to you to tell you about it.  You will hear it from several parties.  And you will decide if it is large enough that it requires action to be taken or if you are going to wait and see who comes forward.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


Ms. Lea, had I cut you off there on your line of questioning?  Sorry about that.


MS. LEA:  Not really, sir.  I had intended to have a few questions on off-ramps before we broke for lunch, but I am quite happy to wait.  It is immaterial to me.  I can begin.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Why don't we break now.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  We will resume at 1:45.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  And I should -- if it is of assistance to the panel and my friends, I do believe I have 45 minutes of questions, plus minus, for this panel.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Ms. Lea.  Thank you, panel.


MR. JANIGAN:  Mr. Chair, I wonder if I could have -- it seems that CME is not going to be here today to cross-examine.  They were before me, and I anticipated I wouldn't be reached today, but I may be reached.  Is it possible to have an extra 15 minutes to pull things together?


MR. QUESNELLE:  It is early days.  I suppose we can.  We will make it up somewhere along the next two weeks.  Yes, yes, Mr. Janigan.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


Two o'clock.  So resume at two o'clock, just to be clear.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:43 p.m.
--- On resuming at 2:01 p.m.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Good afternoon.  Please be seated.


Unless we have any matters that arose over the break, Ms. Lea, if you are ready to continue?


MS. LEA:  Thank you very much.  A couple of things to go back to.


One is that I have been reliably informed that EDVAR actually stands for Electricity Distributors Deferral and Variance Account Review, so I wanted to correct what I said about that.


Secondly, I understand that Mr. Winters wanted to add to an answer that he gave me already regarding customer communications, and I would invite him to do so now.


MR. WINTERS:  Thank you, Ms. Lea.


Yes, I do believe I interpreted your question too narrowly, around a broader customer communications strategy and really demonstrating value.  I really answered it more in the terms of this rate change specifically.  So I would like to provide further information, if I may.


So tied to the rate changes, absolutely, we will put out a press release, and that is to really provide general awareness of the rate changes.


Now, I can't convey exactly what these messages will be, but I can state with confidence that we aren't going to simply state the rates are higher because the Ontario Energy Board approved them.  We will provide more --


MS. LEA:  That's good, because you asked for them.


[Laughter]


MR. WINTERS:  Exactly.  So we will provide more context.


We also do plan on providing more personalized communiqués to our customers, really make them based on usage.  So to convey the changes in the rates, context of the need and value, and then communicate really what it means to them.


Thirdly, we plan on putting better tools on the web to explain the bill and bill impacts, and these are both for customers to be able to use independently, as well as when they're on the phone with our customer service representatives.  So our customer service representatives will have access to those same tools.


Fourthly, we used this method in the recent past and it was related to our customer service recovery efforts, and it was conducting a tele-town hall.  So what we had done in the spring is we invited 25,000 customers to jump on the phone with us.  8,000 of them actually took us up on that, and I think it was during the NHL play-offs, so we had quite a good take-up rate.


But 8,000 joined the call, and it gave us a chance to convey some key messages and then allowed them to ask questions and then for us to answer so that everyone else could hear.


We do plan on using that same strategy going forward as well.  So a tele-town hall is definitely in the future for us and there may be a number of them.


Then lastly, rather than just trying to communicate value, it is really demonstrating value.  I mentioned to Mr. Rubenstein that we aren't satisfied with the value for money right now and we have to do a better job.  If you look at our investments around customer experience and what we want to do around improved customer service, it gets to that very element.


So to provide improved commitment tracking, we do plan on designing a report card that we'll have on the web, that allows our customers to see how we are doing at meeting our commitments for them.  We plan on more around demonstrating the value around outage restoration, around providing more proactive updates to estimated time of restoration, and also making improvements in those estimates for time of restoration.


Then something else we want to get into –- and again, we haven't detailed it down to the nth degree, but we want to be able to provide proactive high-consumption alerts, so give our customers more of a heads-up or forewarned that their -- based on their consumption patterns, that they can expect higher bills.  And we know high bills is a dissatisfier of our customers, so that is something that we definitely want to do.


Then just to close it up, a redesigned bill is something that we plan on doing over the next five years, so be able to convey the information that our customers want and need on a redesigned or a reformatted bill.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  A couple of questions arising out of that.


What is your target with respect to customer satisfaction over the five-year period of plan?


MR. WINTERS:  As shown in A4-4, outcome measures, for our residential and small business customers we plan on increasing customer satisfaction from 80 percent up to 85 percent by 2019.


MS. LEA:  But the increase in spend is very significant in that area, is it not?


MR. WINTERS:  The spend with customer experience is higher than traditional, yes.


MS. LEA:  Can you express that in -- more quantitatively?  Is it twice?  I don't have the figure in front of me.  That's...


MR. WINTERS:  I could point you to C1, the customer service OM&A exhibit, C1, tab 2, schedule 5.  Now let's get to the page.


So page 16 of 20, section 5, it outlines customer experience costs.  So they are $4.2 to $4.3 million a year over the five years.


MS. LEA:  I'm just going to wait til we get to that page.


It's a very significant increase in the historical years.


MR. WINTERS:  Yes, it is.


MS. LEA:  And is it -- it seems disproportionate.  Your customer satisfaction index is going up by 5 percent, but your spend is going up more than -- well, almost four times what it was in 2013.  Can you comment on that?


MR. WINTERS:  We need to provide a better customer experience.  We recognize that.  We have no choice, in my opinion.


Some aspects of the bill are beyond our control.  We are maintaining reliability at current levels.  We do need increased spend even to maintain that reliability at current levels, so we need to -- we need to communicate better with our customers and we need to provide better service to our customers, especially in light of those other elements.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  Thank you.


I wanted to go back to something that Ms. Frank was assisting us with, and that was the annual updates and the discussion of the update of ROE on an annual basis.


When was the last time that Hydro One Distribution had its ROE updated?


MS. FRANK:  It would have been when we had a two-year cost of service application, so that would have been for 2010 and 2011.  So as we had the decision rendered, we -- at the very end, just before implementing the January amount, we would have updated 2010 for what the Board issued in -- I don't recall exactly -- likely November of 2009.


And then in the second year of that, the 2011, we updated for the, once again, November 2010.


So it's the second -- we have often done two-year cost of service, and it's the second year where you update for what's happened just prior to the start of the second year.  That's the model that we were anticipating we would use here.  We use it for distribution and for transmission in the second year.


MS. LEA:  But you're proposing to annually update this time, are you not?  Not leave it for the period of the plan?


MS. FRANK:  That's what we did in the distribution.  We updated each year annually for what happened in the prior year.


MS. LEA:  For 2012 and 2013?


MS. FRANK:  Those were an IRM --


MS. LEA:  Right.


MS. FRANK:  So IRM does not allow for this type of a change.  I am going to assume that it's built into the formula.


MS. LEA:  Mm-hmm.  I understand.  So all I was trying to determine is:  Have you had any trouble in the market?


It seemed to me you were saying that one of the reasons you believe it is necessary to update your ROE annually through the length of this five-year rate plan is that the market expects this.  Or I think that is what you said.


So have you had any difficulty in the past, given that your ROE has not been updated for '12 and '13?


MS. FRANK:  The -- actually, this is another one that I will say that -- I will tell you a bit, but I am certain our CFO, who works with the credit rating agencies and the bondholders, can tell you a bit more.


The expectation is, as a utility, you will earn what the appropriate utility return is.  And what the agencies look to is what the Board puts out.  If the Board puts out that it is appropriate to earn 9.2, then they expect us to earn a return of 9.2 percent.


On the other hand, if the Board put out something that 8.8 was reasonable, they would be comfortable with us earning 8.8, because you are doing what is appropriate for your industry and what the Board allows.


Certainly for a period of five years, if you froze on whatever the rate is now and there were no adjustments, then increasingly your coverages would be seen to deteriorate, and the expectation in terms of a soundly operating utility consistent with Board-allowed returns would be faltering.


So right now we have a good credit rating agency because they look at the regulation and they describe it very favourably.  They say that we're in a positive regulatory environment.  And we'd like that to continue.


MS. LEA:  I wonder if I could look at -- with you at the off-ramps that you have proposed.  Now, the Board had two off-ramps that it mentioned in the RRFE report, the basis point earnings dead band of plus/minus 300 basis points and also deterioration of performance.


Now, you have proposed two additional off-ramps; is that correct?


MS. FRANK:  I have given two other examples, yes.


MS. LEA:  Two other examples.  Are you suggesting that these are just examples and that the Board should not take action if these two things occur?


MS. FRANK:  What I'm saying is, if there are -- if there are aspects of this business that materially change the nature of the business that we're operating, so -- and that's what we've got.  I think if we look at Exhibit A5, schedule 1, page 5 --


MS. LEA:  Yes, thank you.


MS. FRANK:  -- you will see the kind of items that I am proposing here.  And we talk about, at the bottom of the page, so lines 20 -- yes, good.  22.  One of them is an illustration -- was, there was consideration through one sector study that said that there should only be eight to 12 large regional distributors.  Well, that would fundamentally change what Hydro One Distribution was.  Likely would now be a portion of those regions.  We would not be the same business as we are today.  And that would mean that we have to stop the rates for our customers, consistent with this business, and move to what the new businesses would be.


There's others where there's merger considerations, there's others where the Board is actually looking at service areas and possibly looking at boundaries or service areas.


One of the items considered is, go to the municipal boundaries.  If we lost all the customers that we have in a municipality somewhere today, we would lose a third of our customers.  That would fundamentally change the kind of business we are, because those third of the customers are naturally the customers that are easiest to serve, because they are the higher-density customers.  And losing that amount of the customer base would change what the rates need to be.


So we figure those would stop -- this is truly off-ramp.  It would stop.  Go away, look at the new business that you are operating, quite materially different.


Those are the ones that occur to me today.  I don't know anything else that would fundamentally change your business, but something else might come along.


MS. LEA:  I presume that these are not Hydro One-specific, in the sense that a major electricity industry restructuring might prompt an off-ramp for a number of distributors?


MS. FRANK:  Yes, I would think that's the case.  I imagine the one about losing our customers to other municipalities would certainly only affect those of the utilities that are the gaining side of it, rather than everybody.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


I wanted to turn to a slightly different area, please.  You have indicated that as part of your business values -- and this was in the management presentation of May 12th and also in Exhibit A, tab 6, schedule 1 -- that striving to keep rates low is one of your business values.  Is that correct?


MS. FRANK:  That's correct.


MS. LEA:  I wonder if you could put on the screen for me, please, an interrogatory from the Consumers Council of Canada, Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 10.  So that would be -- number 1.  So CCC Interrogatory 1.  And this is a bill impact interrogatory.  Thank you.


So if we look at the chart -- I wanted to look at the chart on page 2, please.  Thank you.  Under the May 30th update there, we see bill impacts listed there.  Are these the most recent bill impacts that are provided in the evidence on this application?


MS. FRANK:  I'm going to -- I haven't specifically looked at this IR response, but the heading does imply May 30th they would be the most recent, yes.


MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.  Let me know if I should be asking a different panel these questions.  I will keep going until you stop me.


Now, how are these bill impacts calculated?  For instance, what values were used for other aspects of the bill, commodity, transmission, other charges?


MS. FRANK:  For transmission, we would have used the latest approved.  For commodity, we don't assume a change.


MS. LEA:  So you use current commodity price, yes?


MS. FRANK:  Right.


MS. LEA:  Hmm-hmm.


MS. FRANK:  I am trying to think if there is another piece that I should reflect upon.  So commodity...


MS. LEA:  Well, let's leave it there.  So is this a specific calculation for a specific rate class?


MS. FRANK:  Can you go back up, please.  You know what, rather than my -- we're likely better to send this to panel 4.


MS. LEA:  Panel 4?


MS. FRANK:  Yes.  This is the, where we have cost allocation and rate design.


MS. LEA:  Okay, just a moment.  I'm not sure all my questions will go to panel 4, so let me keep going, please.


MS. FRANK:  Okay.


MS. LEA:  So the calculation then, there is a rate impact line back at the chart on page 2.  And again, my question is, how was this rate impact calculated, again, what is included in the impact, is this for a specific class?  Is that panel 4 as well?


MS. FRANK:  This would be panel 4.


MS. LEA:  All right.  And what value is Hydro One using for inflation when you talk about these amounts and keeping your rate increases below inflation?


MS. FRANK:  We've talked about 2 percent being the rate of inflation.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  Now, that -- I was looking at the 2 percent, and that is at Exhibit A, tab 16, schedule 1.  Exhibit A, tab 16, schedule 1, page 3.


But there is also a reference on that page to the Global Insight February 2013 forecast.  Has this been updated?


MS. FRANK:  No.  We wouldn't have updated -- those were planning assumptions.  No, A-16-1.  So just for one moment go to the first page, if you would, please.


So they're economic indicators that were used as costing assumptions underlying the 2013 business plan.  So that's the first line on that first page.


So this is the input into business planning, and we wouldn't have updated --


MS. LEA:  Yes, I understand.


MS. FRANK:  -- because you would have to update the whole plan.


MS. LEA:  Okay.


MS. FRANK:  So, no, what you see here is the basis of the application.


MS. LEA:  One moment, please.


We were wondering if -- and again, send me to panel 4 if you need to -- I was trying to figure that out.  We were wondering if you would be willing to, in your annual reporting on your specific plan, which we will get to in a moment -- include a confirmation that the bill impact is less than inflation.


In other words, there are things that are going to change over the five-year period of the plan that go into this calculation, and also the rate of inflation might change.


Would you be willing to confirm that the bill impact is less than the rate of inflation on an annual basis?


MS. FRANK:  Are you proposing a new metric?


MS. LEA:  I don't know whether it is exactly a metric.  There are things that -- maybe I should get to this when I get to the entire list of things that I am suggesting you report on.


Not so much a metric as a confirmation that that business value is continuing and continues to be successfully met.  If that's a metric, I suppose it is.


MS. FRANK:  I struggle with how you have characterized it a bit.  If you are saying, to report on what your rate increase is to customers and then compare it to the rate of inflation that happened, you know, so this is an after-the-fact:  Here's what inflation happened and here's how your bills changed during that period, and do the comparison.  That is data that could be provided, if the Board wanted to have it.  You could do that.


I struggle with the notion of the way you premised it with, ensure that you continue to be below inflation.  My feeling is that could be a value, but you don't know that you make it, because inflation may turn out to be different than we plan and the rate, which would have a mechanical adjustment for those annual-type items, may be different than we think about today as well.


I am not certain how they will relate to inflation down the road.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  We will think about that, and if -- we can put it in our submission as to -- if we're interested in that.


Just one moment, please.


I think I heard you say this morning that the eight areas that Hydro One has used as outcome measures were driven -- or the first driver for those might have been the level of expenditure, the high -- the high-expense items.


Did I hear that correctly?


MS. FRANK:  Yes.  There's a strong relationship between the areas we selected to put outcome measures in, and our work program.


Naturally, our work program -- there's a bit circular here -- our work program increased in areas that we knew were important to our customers.


So we targeted a large increase because we knew that outages -– tree-driven outages is a major source of dissatisfaction.  So you see major expenditures on vegetation, and then we look at the tree-driven outages as the outcome.  There is a bit of a:  What came first?


MS. LEA:  What were the other drivers in the selection of these outcomes?


MS. FRANK:  They had to be items that were measurable and that could be readily audited or confirmed.  So they were objective, in a sense.  So measurable, objective and areas of large cost increase.


MS. LEA:  All right.  Thank you.  I will keep my detailed questions for subsequent panels on those.


I want to have a look now at the -- at how you propose to report on your outcome measures.  And this deals with performance erosion, I guess, as well, which is something that I wanted to ask you about.


In an answer to an undertaking from the technical conference -- and this is Exhibit TCJ-1.16.  Could you put that up, please?  And it's a scorecard, so it would be the second page.  Thank you.


Thank you for providing this.  It's very helpful.


As a general question, what level of performance erosion, in your view, should prompt concern on the part of the Board?


For example, are all these targets either met or not met?  Is it a binary, yes/no type thing?  Or should there be some form of tolerance or dead band around these targets?  Because you're not going to make all of them, or at least there might be some variance in performance.


Is there some level that the Board should accept, tolerate, before it begins an inquiry?  Can you speak to that general question?


MS. FRANK:  One of the advantages of five-year plan is that you have a five-year expectation of where you need to get to.  So some annual variation is, I think, acceptable.


And also, given the nature of our metrics that, as we have looked at history, can have quite a bit of volatility depending upon what circumstances you experience throughout the year.


So I would think there's not an annual amount that is a trigger for concern, but more:  Are you seeing that -- the general direction?  Are you making it generally?


And if you're higher some years, lower some years, but you are on the path, I think that would be seen to be okay.  If you're consistently underperforming across the board, I would say there's some concern.


Ms. Lea, I have a similar issue with the Board when they talk as an off-ramp about unacceptable performance, but it's never really defined as to what that looks like.  And I don't think we're more qualified than the Board to determine what is a cause for concern.


MS. LEA:  So what I'm hearing you say is that the Board should consider the trend as much as anything else with respect to -- like, not an actual number, but a trend as well.


Are you generally making your targets?  Are you generally trending downwards, trending upwards, staying flat, that kind of thing?


MS. FRANK:  Yes, I think that would be more informative.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  And I wanted just to look at the units -- pardon me for being pedantic -- for three of these measures.


Under vegetation management, reduction in vegetation-related interruptions is, I think, your goal, but the measure itself is the number of vegetation and the number of outages, excluding force majeure, caused by vegetation?  Would that be a more correct...


MS. FRANK:  That is what the number is.


MS. LEA:  The unit is?


MS. FRANK:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  Then similarly, under substation refurbishments and distribution line equipment refurbishments, your goal is to reduce the number of these interruptions, but the number itself is the number of interruptions per year, excluding force majeure and planned?


MS. FRANK:  This is correct.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  For customer experience in handling of unplanned outages, you have indicated the measure is an increase in overall customer satisfaction for both of those.


So the numbers to the right are the percent satisfied customers?


MR. WINTERS:  That's correct.  Yes, that's correct.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


I was surprised by an answer you gave this morning, that you don't believe you need an account to track capital spending against plan, because on page 20 of the RRFE report, the Board does indicate that it will monitor capital spending against the approved plan for requiring distributors to report annually on actual amounts spent.


How do you propose to report annually on actual amounts spent?


MS. FRANK:  That is actually a current reporting requirement that we have as part of the Triple-R annual reporting.


We provide information on our annual statement, which shows the capital expenditures.  We also have information on in-service additions.


So what we're actually spending each year is currently available, associated with capital, and what we're putting into rate base.  That's information that is there today.


MS. LEA:  So you already report, on in-service capital, what capital has come into service each year?


MS. FRANK:  Right.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  So would it be -- so you're objecting to the idea of a variance or measuring the variance between the planned capital spending, the capital spending in your plan, and that which you have actually spent?


MS. FRANK:  And it may be because I jump ahead to:  Why do you have a variance account?  And maybe I shouldn't have done that.


I assume that you would want a variance account because you would want to true up for what gets into that variance account.  And that's what I object to.


MS. LEA:  I understand.


MS. FRANK:  It's not the actual reporting.


MS. LEA:  So it's not the tracking or reporting.  So if the Board required you to track the variance in some fashion between actual spend and planned spend, you would not have a problem with that?


MS. FRANK:  As long as there was no expectation of clearing the account.


So therefore I think the language would have to be -- as you were doing earlier, Ms. Lea, the language is important here.  I don't believe it would be a variance account, but you could have a tracking account.


MS. LEA:  And what would you -- is there any -- would there be any confusion or do you need any guidance from the Board over exactly what data would need to be tracked over the term of the plan to measure planned versus actual expenditures?  Would there be any confusion arising as to the source of the numbers?


MS. FRANK:  No, there's no confusion.  When you talk about -- I assume we're talking about in-service capital rather than capital spend, because it is the in-service capital that customers pay for, and therefore the item that is most important when you look at:  Did you ask customers to incur a rate impact associated with capital?  It's what you put in service and the change to rate base.


So if you're talking about what's in rate base in our plan, what is the Board-approved, whatever number that will be, and you can compare the actual change to in-service additions, that's information that is readily available.


I don't think we need any direction.  The financial system can provide that.


MS. LEA:  It may be that I am just not quite catching up with you, but would it be a problem also to indicate the -- so I guess it's not just in-service capital, but what you actually spent to get that into service?


MS. FRANK:  No.  It is actually the dollar value of what you put in service.


MS. LEA:  Okay.


MS. FRANK:  So that reflects the accumulation of expenditures over, in the case of distribution normally, a short period of time.  But whatever has happened on the project and when you put the project in-service, when it is used and useful, that's the in-service capital addition, and that's how rate base changes, and that's the number that is most important from a customer perspective.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


DR. ELSAYED:  Sorry, just to clarify, Ms. Frank.  You mentioned earlier that you do report that on an annual basis.


MS. FRANK:  Yes.


DR. ELSAYED:  Is it in-service spending that you do report on or the actual expenditure?


MS. FRANK:  Well, we have both, actually.


DR. ELSAYED:  You do report both?


MS. FRANK:  Yes, we report both.


DR. ELSAYED:  Okay, thank you.


MS. LEA:  And what about for each of the outcome measures?  You have proposed spending, annual spending for each of those measures, which includes some capital, some OM&A, other sources.


Would you be willing to report on the actual spend for each of the outcome measures compared to what you proposed to spend, what you planned to spend?


MS. FRANK:  We always do what our Board orders us to do, so let me premise it with that.


But to me, that's a level of monitoring that I would think would be -- if you're talking about a five-year plan, where you expect the utility to go away and operate within that five-year and do what is appropriate, given whatever happens -- actually, in the renewed regulatory framework report it talks about, the actuals will differ from the plan, and they expect the utility to be able to operate within the approval that's provided.


--- Music swells to a loud volume.


MS. LEA:  Good gracious.  Somebody liked your answer. [Laughter]


MS. FRANK:  Okay.  Well, that's done.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I'll do that one more time.  Okay.


MS. FRANK:  So my feeling would be --


MS. LEA:  Yes, I know that you will accept what the Board orders.  I am trying to explore it with you so we can understand better.


MS. FRANK:  What I'm saying is, I don't think it is appropriate to monitor to this level of detail within the work programs and report on it annually.


I think the next time that the Board would look at these items would be at the next rate application, and they get the five-year history at that point in time, but reporting at that level of detail for the costs on each of those, I don't think that would be appropriate.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


There was -- there was something that we believed was a bit of an inconsistency in numbers that we were hoping that you could explain whether it needs updating or not.  Again, tell me if this goes to another panel.  The two exhibits were Exhibit A, tab 4, schedule 4.  You provided there a comparator costs for each outcome measure.


But then there was an interrogatory.  It was Exhibit 2.4, Staff 17, and several of the amounts identified there in relation to the outcome measures were adjusted by Hydro One.


We're just wondering whether Exhibit A, tab 4, schedule 4 and Interrogatory Exhibit 2.4, Staff 17 are now consistent.  If you want to take this away and come back with an undertaking, I am happy to do that, but whether one of those two exhibits need to be changed or updated, because we got confused.  Please feel free to tell me that you will give an undertaking if you prefer to do that.


MS. FRANK:  I think it would be better that I either give an undertaking or check at break, one of the two.  I don't think I should do this and take time right now to try to do it.


MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.  So I think we will give it an undertaking number just so that we don't forget.  That will be J1.1, a comparison between Exhibit A, tab 4, schedule 4 and Exhibit 2.4, Staff 17.  Thank you.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  TO PROVIDE A COMPARISON BETWEEN EXHIBIT A, TAB 4, SCHEDULE 4 AND EXHIBIT 2.4, STAFF 17.


MS. LEA:  With respect to -- continuing on the question of reporting.  Have you considered tracking continuous improvement results?  By that I mean dollars per pole or transformer replaced, is that getting better?  I think Mr. Rubenstein talked about this -- or avoided costs per year due to avoided outages or reduced outage duration, some indication of, here's how it is getting better, folks.  Have you considered tracking that type of information?


MS. FRANK:  When we were looking at metrics that we thought would be appropriate to use for this, we certainly looked at unit costing of various types of activities.


Then as I think we talked about a little bit earlier, the nature of the work can change quite a bit within a category.  So a pole replacement is not the same from one location to another.  We already talked about that.


And therefore, what you would have to say is, for a similar pole in a similar-type location, what is the cost?  It became incredibly complicated to try to isolate like-for-like comparisons.


So at this point in time I'd say that this is a large challenge, something we wouldn't have history on, and I think it would be somewhat costly to implement that level of detailed tracking.


It is not to say it couldn't be done.  I just think that it would be costly, and we certainly don't want to have some metric or costing that we put in that has long explanations of why one number doesn't relate to another number.  I think that doesn't have a lot of value.  You would like to have something that is more objective.


I fear that these unit cost type items, there is too much variability in the work program for them to be merit in them.


MS. LEA:  Would that be true for all of the work programs you've listed, not just poles, but the other ones as well?


MS. FRANK:  Are you talking about the ones in the outcome area?


MS. LEA:  Yes, that's right.


MS. FRANK:  I think that's the case.  Not all stations are alike.  So I am just looking through the list.  I think that's true.


My colleague is reminding, vegetation -- depends on which right-of-way you are clearing on what type of vegetation you are going to run into.  How large they are.  How close they are to the live lines, and therefore what crews are necessary.  So I think the work is not uniform in nature.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  One other possibility for reporting.  You have indicated that you are going to achieve savings in various areas, and you have quantified those savings in your exhibits.


Would you be willing to report on whether you achieve those savings?  Would that be something you could do?


MS. FRANK:  I'm going to suggest that that would actually be better asked to the panel 2, where they did the original estimation of the savings.


I think -- I would think there should be some ability to determine, did you get these savings.  However, I would really like them to be more specific than I can be.


MS. LEA:  Now, I asked you, actually, this morning before the hearing began to have a look at the scorecard report of the Board and specifically at appendix A of that scorecard report.  And the reason for that was that in the Board's scorecard report at appendix A there is a description of or documentation to enable people to understand -- thank you for pulling that up for me.  I appreciate that -- to help people understand what the measures are about.


And if you are prepared to file the equivalent to TCJ1.16 annually, would you be willing to provide the technical definitions and plain-language description along with the scores to help customers and the Board to understand what measures we're talking about here?


MS. FRANK:  Yes, I think it's a reasonable thing for us to do.


MS. LEA:  One moment, please.


I wanted to turn to a slightly different area, and I am only going to touch on the overview here, because I understand that panels 2 and 3 will be dealing with the Distribution System Plan and investments, largely.


MS. FRANK:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  So --


MS. FRANK:  Mostly panel 3.


MS. LEA:  Mostly panel 3.


MS. FRANK:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  That's helpful, thank you.


The Chapter 5 filing requirements -- and that's another document that I asked you to think about -- the Chapter 5 filing requirements, in the introduction to that document at page 1 -- and I will just read it, because we may not have it on the screen.  Right at the top:

"These filing requirements set out the information required by the Board under the renewed regulatory framework for electricity to assess distributor applications involving planned expenditures on distribution system and other infrastructure.  For the purposes of these filing requirements, a Distribution System Plan consolidates documentation of a distributor's asset management process and capital expenditure plan..."

I am just going to stop there.


You have chosen not to present a consolidated plan in your evidence, but to provide a table of cross-references, as chapter 5 permits, on page 9 of that document; is that right?


MS. FRANK:  That's correct.  We believe that we provided all the information that is part of an asset plan, but we've left it in the format that the company has typically used over the years for describing its investment planning process and its prioritization process and the various work programs.


So I believe the information is all there, but it may not be pulled out as a separate exhibit.


MS. LEA:  And why did you choose to do that?


MS. FRANK:  More for continuity with the prior plans.  So it allows people to look, year over year, what's changed.


The -- all aspects of the Distribution System Plans and the planning process, like I say, are covered, but it will be simpler for the Board.  And our thought was to be able to see what has changed if it's left in a similar format than if you -- if you change the format and you pull it all out right away, you start to wonder what's changed, and it is harder to see.


MS. LEA:  I wonder if we could have a look at the exhibit, which is entitled "Distribution System Plan."  And that is Exhibit A, tab 7, schedule 1.  Exhibit A, tab 7, schedule 1 on page 3 -- and this table continues to page 5 -- there is a table which does provide all the cross-references.


So am I correct that in order to read and understand your complete Distribution System Plan, we need to look at the exhibits that you have listed in this table?  Is that right?

MS. FRANK:  That would be correct.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  So if we go, for example, to "Asset management process overview," which I think is section 5.3.1 in the Board's chapter 5, table 1 directs us to six different schedules in Exhibit A, tab 17; is that correct?


MS. FRANK:  Yes, it is.


MS. LEA:  And then if you go to the second schedule of that exhibit listed, so that is -- let me see -- schedule 2, so A-17-2.  Thank you.


Under page 1, under the heading:  "The asset management plan overview", at line 22 there are another five exhibits listed that we should read to understand the asset management plan overview; is that right?


MS. FRANK:  Now, it goes to the various portions, the "voice of the customer," the customer aspects.  Yes, there are five of them here.


MS. LEA:  And what order would you suggest that we read all of these exhibits to understand the Distribution System Plan and the asset management process overview?


MS. FRANK:  My suggestion would be you'd read them in the order that they have been provided in our application, and not in the order that has been identified through this particular exhibit.


I think they follow more easily for a customer's understanding, or for the Board's understanding, if you read them in the order that we have filed them.


MS. LEA:  And perhaps this is crystal clear in the evidence.  And I am not sure whether it would be this witness panel or another, but I think it would assist Board Staff, at least, if someone, some witness for Hydro One could just take us step by step as a guide to the process Hydro One uses to plan, select, prioritize and pace its proposed investments over this five-year plan, with reference to each of these exhibits that you have listed as part of your Distribution System Plan.


I don't know whether you want to attempt to do that or have someone else do it.


MS. FRANK:  There are two aspects of this.


At the next panel, panel 2, we have the overall business planning, but I actually think what would be better in terms of answering the question you have here, is panel 3, when they talk about the investment plan, the determination of what level of work, and what led them to making that prioritization.


So I am going to suggest that panel 3 would be your preferred approach.  And yes, we can let them know that they should walk through this.


We were already starting with an asset analytics demonstration.  Maybe -- are you suggesting that might be a good direct evidence piece?


MS. LEA:  I -- certainly Staff would find it useful to have the exhibits in the application related to the process that you use, step by step.


I am not sure whether the Panel, the Board Panel would find it useful.  And I don't want to take other people's time, if I am the only one that doesn't understand this.


MR. ROGERS:  Well, I could tell you, I had planned actually -- Mr. Chairman, members of the Board -- to lead some evidence from panel 3 in-chief.


I don't normally do that, but I thought I would with that panel, to show you the analytics tools and explain it.  And certainly we could do something along the lines that Ms. Lea is suggesting as well, if it would be helpful.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I for one, and I think the rest of the Panel, would find it useful as well.  A lot of what we're covering here is trying to see the connections between the application and the RRFE report and the objectives.


So the marrying of the two makes sense.


MR. ROGERS:  We will do our best to provide a useful summary in a reasonable period of time.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


So I don't want to go over this, but so where -- for panel 2 there are some exhibits listed that relate to the Distribution System Plan.  For most things I need to hold my questions to panel 3?


MS. FRANK:  I think panel 3 would take you from the front end:  What does our customer say?  How do we know what our equipment can do, in terms of the understanding of their condition, their performance, the connectivity?  So what's -- what assets need work.  And then how we go through the prioritization process among the various -- you can't do it all, and how do you decide what you are going to do, to actually what they put forward into the investment plan?


And why don't we just have panel 3 take you from start to end?


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  That's helpful.


I wonder if we could go back to the chapter 5 filing requirements, please, at page 8.


And this report of the Board contemplates the Distribution System Plan being used for other filings.  And for example, when -- I am just going to find my own copy here, because I have it highlighted.  Looking at page -- yes, page 8, at the top, immediately before 5.1.4 -- there we are.


It indicates that:

"The Board may also require a Distribution System Plan to be filed in relation to leave-to-construct, incremental capital module, or Z factor applications."


ICM isn't going to apply to you.  But in these circumstances where the Board required a Distribution System Plan to be filed in relation to a leave-to-construct or a Z factor application, what would you file?


MS. FRANK:  The regional plan, I think, is -- which is also on this page -- is the item that is most relevant to a leave-to-construct.  And those leave-to-constructs would be part of our transmission business, not our distribution business.


There is an expectation when you come forward with a transmission section 92 for a leave-to-construct, that you have had an assessment, that it is the appropriate investment from a regional planning perspective, that there wasn't a generation option or a conservation option, that indeed the transmission investment option was the preferred alternative.


So we would have either a formal regional plan, if the formal regional plan is available, or we would have had an assessment from the OPA that their preliminary work suggested that this particular asset was the preferred alternative, and the reason it is advanced at this stage is the priority of need.  It couldn't wait for the regional plan to be completed.


So you would have the regional plan to support the leave-to-construct.  And once, again I say this is really a transmission-type investment; we don't get leave-to-constructs for distribution investments.  They just come in our normal application like we have here, a cost of service.


MS. LEA:  If for some reason the Board required you to file a Distribution System Plan for a Z factor application?


MS. FRANK:  Well, I'm struggling with -- if the Board orders us to do that, a Z factor, then of course we do it.  As we said before, what the Board orders, we do.


But I don't see us coming forward with a Z factor application.  I see us coming forward with something out of a regional plan.  So if there was a regional plan that identified -- and there was an update to this evidence in May of this sort, where in the Leamington area it was determined that, indeed, additional assets were needed to service the growth in the greenhouse industry.


And we -- our regional plan was done with the OPA, with transmission, Hydro One Transmission, and with the, I believe, four distributors who are all served by the area.


That investment requires that the distribution business, Hydro One Distribution, is going to have to make a capital contribution.

It is always expensive to put in transmission investments, so we're going to have to make a contribution, and we have added that in.  There is a regional plan that supports it.


So I would see, there would be a regional plan that would be filed as part of the request for any -- I like to call those things the "outside the norm", or Z factors.


MS. LEA:  As you proceed through the plan years and contemplate coming back in five years for another application, do you plan to consolidate your distribution system plan?


MS. FRANK:  To me this is all about a format.


MS. LEA:  Yes, it is.


MS. FRANK:  This is not about information.  So I don't know what the format requirement might look like five years from now.  It may not have the same one that we have today.  I was expecting that after the Board has gone through a few of these custom filings that they may add new filing requirements.


To the extent that we have those new filing requirements in time for us to file them, I would assume we would provide information like that.


MS. LEA:  How much time do you think it would take you to create a consolidated distribution system plan?


MS. FRANK:  Remember, we have all of the information today --


MS. LEA:  Yes, that's why I'm asking, would it not take very long?


MS. FRANK:  There is no information shortage.


You saw the page with all the exhibits?


MS. LEA:  I did.


MS. FRANK:  Okay.  So changing the order and putting all that together would be -- yes, it would be some effort.  It's not the kind of thing we'd get done in a matter of a few days, because there are a lot of exhibits involved, and they have got to look at the flow again.


The information is all there, as I said, but just reformatting it and rewriting it so that it looks continuous, it would take some time.


There's certainly nothing new to be added by doing the reformatting, but...


MS. LEA:  Do you believe that the format in which you have done your distribution system plan for this application provides the Board with confidence that, in fact, there is flow through your distribution system planning process, that all the various steps in that process do flow naturally together, even though the exhibits are spread through the application?


MS. FRANK:  The exhibits are organized in a way that's consistent with how the company normally thinks about this work.  So I would say, yes, there's flow, because this is how the company does this work, not following the format that the Board has put in place, but our execution of the work.  And we already have agreed that, with panel 3, they will walk you through this information.  I think you will see that this is how we do our planning.


MS. LEA:  Please understand me, I am not trying to suggest that Hydro One and its previous Ontario Hydro is not a good planner.  You have only been doing it for over 100 years.  Just, we need to understand how it works, particularly given the Board's emphasis in the RRFE report on the distribution system plan being a foundation for everything else.


If I could have just a moment, please, Mr. Chairman.


Thank you very much for your indulgence.  Those are our questions for panel 1.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Ms. Lea.


Mr. Janigan, were you up next, or...


DR. HIGGIN:  It's me.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I'm sorry, yes, okay.  I didn't know if there was an order that had been determined.


DR. HIGGIN:  Mr. Chair, I just look at the time and wonder what time would you want to take a break?


MR. QUESNELLE:  Let's see.  We started up at 2:00.  Why don't we go to -- why don't we go to 3:30.


DR. HIGGIN:  I'll see how far we can get.  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Great, thanks.

Cross-Examination by Dr. Higgin:

DR. HIGGIN:  Good afternoon.  So I just have one follow-up question that came from the questions about out-of-normal business adjustments, and specifically as it relates to regional planning.  Okay?


So in your -- perhaps we could pick up the reference that deals exactly with that, which is E-17-08 of the evidence, on page 8 of that.  On page 8.


As you say, regional planning is primarily focused around the transmission business.  However, as you indicate in this evidence here, you are involved in 19 regions, and heavily involved in that process.  So the question then comes, is that, what happens if, as part of those regional plans, there are direct costs to Hydro One Distribution, as opposed to transmission, for example, related to embedded utilities, connecting those and so on?  What happens if those costs occur, and how will that relate to your out-of-business -- out-of-normal business adjustments?  How are you going to deal with those in the plan?


MS. FRANK:  Our expectation would be that the regional plan will have identified that the preferred alternative for dealing with some need -- I am going to assume some growth in an area -- is to do a transmission solution.  And to the extent that there isn't enough load to justify a forecast of incremental revenue to pay for the investment, there will need to be a capital contribution by the distribution company or customers who directly benefit.  That is the normal approach for transmission.  If you don't have enough load growth to pay for the incremental investment, you're making a capital contribution upfront.


So if we were to assume that during the five-year period there will be a regional plan that will require some transmission solution where there will not be enough load and there will have to be a capital contribution and the party making the capital contribution will be Hydro One Distribution, all those assumptions, what we would do is we would look at when that asset is coming in.  Transmission, as we all know, takes several years from the time that you identify the need until you have an in-service asset.


It is not until that asset is in-service that the distributor needs to make the payment.  So it wouldn't be until we have an in-service asset that we're talking about adding something.


Now, we also have to say, is it material?  Because we've put that threshold in where it would have to be a seven-and-a-half-million-dollar revenue-requirement impact.  So the capital contribution would have had to increase the revenue requirement by seven-and-a-half million.


That's a relatively sizeable capital investment.  Could one of these things happen in the period?  Yes, it definitely could.  But at this point in time we have the Leamington one that we did put in.  I don't know if there's others that are coming.


DR. HIGGIN:  So the issue there, then, is two:  Timing, whether it will happen during the plan or not, and second is the materiality threshold.  We come back to the issues that pertain to the threshold, which were raised before and which the Board asked about.


So I am just raising that there is another element there that affects materiality threshold, and that is the regional planning.


MS. FRANK:  Yes, it could drive an outside-the-norm adjustment; you're quite right.


DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  So that was just something I was asked to follow up on, so now I would like to turn to our main evidence -- examination.  We're going to talk more about Hydro's value proposition, and that is set out in many parts of the evidence.  And also that includes keeping the rate increases at or below inflation.  And we'll talk a bit about the smoothing proposal you have.  And the second part will deal with customer satisfaction.  I thought since he came we should ask questions more about that.  And particularly we will also ask a bit about the scorecard as well.


So let's start by turning up your presentation to the Board, which is PD2.  That was the May 12th presentation to the Board.  And particularly, let's look at page 4.  That is probably not called PD2.  I had it down as the presentation to the Board.  Then that must be the wrong reference.  Perhaps somebody can help me with that one.  This is the distribution rate application executive panel presentation to the Board.


MR. THIESSEN:  I think that is PD1.


DR. HIGGIN:  PD1, thank you.  I got my 2s and 1s wrong.  Thank you, Harold.


So if you could look at page 4 of that, please.  This shows the value proposition that Hydro is proposing as part of this five-year rate plan.  And you see the various components.


I will focus on keeping the rates low, bill impacts, and also on customer satisfaction in this particular part of the examination, and with the other panels we will deal with operating efficiencies and cost savings.

So that's where we're going to go.  That is the roadmap of our presentation.


So let's start by looking at the ask for the revenue requirement.  And that is shown -- if you could turn up Exhibit E-1, tab 1, schedule 1.


At the bottom, you can see the multi-year revenue requirements.  And this shows, as was talked about earlier, that the revenue requirement for 2011, which was the last one that was actually approved by the Board, is $1.149 billion.  Okay?  That's what this shows.


So where -- I am going to ask you now just to confirm that over the plan period, the numbers seem to indicate the ask as being 290 million increase in revenue requirement over the plan period.  Would you agree with that?


MS. FRANK:  Just so I am clear, you're just looking at 2019 and subtracting -- I don't know.  What are you doing?


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  Just to do the math, subtract the ask above the base year.


MS. FRANK:  So I am having trouble getting 290.


DR. HIGGIN:  Well, let's go back, then.


Over the base years –- actually, 2014.  And you have a revenue requirement of 2014 that you've set out in a number of places, which is actually 1.375 billion; correct?


MS. FRANK:  I -- the 1.3...


DR. HIGGIN:  It's not on this chart.


MS. FRANK:  It's not on this chart?


DR. HIGGIN:  No.  So subject to check, that is the 2014 revenue requirement, and it's in your presentations to the board of directors and a number of places.  You want me to give you a reference for it?


MS. FRANK:  That would be helpful.


DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  The reference that I would give you for that number is Exhibit I-1.1-9.SEC 1, attachment 2, and at page 13.


I didn't want to go through the history, but that's basically where we start from.  That's the current estimated revenue requirement.  It's a notional amount.  and that's what today's rates are based on.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Dr. Higgin, just so I can understand so the 290 is the delta between that number and the 219 number?


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, that's correct.  That's the delta.


MS. FRANK:  Do we have the correct page up on the screen here?  Is this...


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  There it is.


The rates revenue requirement, 1.375.  Look at the box.  Correct?


MS. FRANK:  It's a little bit hard to see.  This says 2015.


DR. HIGGIN:  2015.  And what I was saying is:  what is the 2014 number?  Do you have the 2014 number?


MS. FRANK:  Oh, that was the question?  Do I have the 2014?


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.


MS. FRANK:  And you're saying a hypothetical calculation, because we were in an IRM --


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  So anyway, the point is that we're trying to -- the point is it is, round numbers, 300 million revenue requirement increase?


MS. FRANK:  Between '15 and '19, is what you're talking about?


DR. HIGGIN:  Right.


MS. FRANK:  I'm sorry.  Maybe we can go back to the other table again and I can look at that.  It is just the reference point I was struggling with.


DR. HIGGIN:  There is no number for 2014.


MS. FRANK:  Because it would not have been a revenue requirement.  It was an IRM.


DR. HIGGIN:  Right.


MS. FRANK:  So the... I don't have the 2014 number.  As you say, it would be a hypothetical.  So I can't confirm the two numbers --


DR. HIGGIN:  Anyway, it is only a minor point to make, that you would –-


MS. FRANK:  It is increasing --


DR. HIGGIN:  -- provide the 2014, estimated 2014 revenue requirement that underpins the existing rates.  What is the...


MS. FRANK:  So I am just trying to understand how that is helpful.  You see what the ask is on this exhibit that is up.


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.


MS. FRANK:  So I am totally agreeing that the number goes from 1.367 to 1.609.  Those are the numbers; no problem with that.


I don't know what I would do with a hypothetical '14.  I don't know how it is helpful.  I guess I am struggling.


DR. HIGGIN:  That would be the revenue requirement from where we're starting, if there was -- if it was a cost of service year.  And what the rates are based on.


MS. FRANK:  And you're asking me to go away and calculate it?  Is that what you're --


DR. HIGGIN:  I'm asking, if you have a number, if you want to bring it, that would be fine.


Otherwise, you can just agree to the other calculation, that it is, as you have said, the increment that you are asking for.


I am fine with either.


MR. ROGERS:  I'm sorry, I don't understand.  Maybe the witness does.


And is there some easier way we can do this?  I think there is some confusion, and I don't want to...


MR. QUESNELLE:  Dr. Higgin, is it your --


DR. HIGGIN:  I am just trying to show where the increment is relative to the existing rates that are in place, what would be the equivalent increase based on existing rates.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Where I hear the crossover is the reference to it as a revenue requirement.  It is not a requirement in 2014.


DR. HIGGIN:  '14, yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  And you understand that.  So if there is an estimate as to what revenues will be coming to the company based on the existing rates in 2014, would that be your starting point for the comparison?


So it is not a revenue requirement; it is the incoming revenues on the existing rate structure for 2014, given the forecasts to the year-end?


DR. HIGGIN:  Right.


MR. QUESNELLE:  To your point, I think, also, Dr. Higgin, you're suggesting either one.


We have the request for the 2015 and the proposal.  If that also makes your point as to the increase, 2019 to '15, it may just be the basis on which you --


DR. HIGGIN:  Exactly.  I think the key I am asking for is to be able to say:  How much is it, based on an increase from the existing rates?


MR. QUESNELLE:  So the more -- to that point, I suppose the revenues for 2014 would be the actual starting point that you would like to have on the record.


DR. HIGGIN:  Sorry to spend so much time on that.


Anyway, if we look at the chart that is in PD-1, just to...


MR. QUESNELLE:  Is there a request for an undertaking?


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, I'm sorry, sir.  Is my client --


MR. QUESNELLE:  That's what I'm trying to ascertain.


DR. HIGGIN:  I thought there was an agreement to provide that.


MR. QUESNELLE:  If there is an undertaking, then let's nail it down.  Ms. Lea?


MS. LEA:  J1.2, please.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:   TO CALCULATE WHAT EXISTING RATES WOULD GENERATE IN REVENUE FOR 2014.


MR. ROGERS:  2014, what the existing rates would generate in revenue?


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.


MS. FRANK:  That's fine.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


DR. HIGGIN:  So could we look at the PD-1 again, please?  Could you pull up particularly the chart on page 12, please?  Okay.  Thank you.


Now, since this was filed on May the 12th, we have now gone to an update, and it is now -- this number is 6.3 percent; correct?  For the period, that is the, quote, "distribution rate increase" is going to be 6.3 percent?


MS. FRANK:  That would be actually on the next page, on slide 13.


DR. HIGGIN:  Yeah, which shows the smooth.


MS. FRANK:  The 7.  So the 6.3 compares to the 7.


DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  So the question we have, which is obviously the first one, is:  How would you characterize this ask relative to the value proposition and keeping rates below inflation?  Would you characterize it as being modest, reasonable, excessive, or how would you characterize it?


MR. WINTERS:  I would characterize this revenue requirement as the minimum amount that we need in order to maintain reliability of our system for our customers at current levels.


And we are doing that, and we are maintaining instead of increasing so as to minimize the cost impact to our customers.


DR. HIGGIN:  And how would you characterize it relative to the value proposition of keeping rates below inflation?


MR. WINTERS:  So by keeping the total impact to the bill within 2 percent, that is what we are doing, and we are doing it with this level of asset investment, as well as the cost savings and productivity initiatives as outlined in A-19-1.


DR. HIGGIN:  You used the word "the bill".  You characterize the bill as being a typical residential customer with 800 kilowatt-hours per year.  Is that who we're talking about here, the average residential customer?


MS. FRANK:  No.  I think when Mr. Winters said "the bill" he was looking at the total bill impact.  So the 6.3, when you translate that to a total bill impact, once again, these are all increases associated with the revenue requirement, the rate revenue requirement.  They're not actually for a particular customer class.  Many things happen after you leave rate revenue requirement through the cost allocation and rate design to get it to a particular customer class.  You see quite different impacts on the customer -- particular customer class.


Here, what we're doing is we're saying the 6.3 translates into 2.1 across all customer classes.  When you just look at, what's the rate revenue requirement impact, if it was 6.3 for the distribution, it translates into 2.1.


DR. HIGGIN:  So that is just above inflation?


MS. FRANK:  Just about inflation, yes.


DR. HIGGIN:  So anyway, let's look at the actual rate impacts further.  Can we go back to turn up Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 10, which is CCC 1, which was up before.


Okay.  So this shows the rate impacts here and the bill impacts.  So just to --


MS. FRANK:  And this one is not that average revenue requirement, rate revenue requirement.  This is actually for a customer class.


DR. HIGGIN:  Exactly.  So can you clarify, I believe this is for the class that I just cited, which was the residential -- an average residential customer with 800 kilowatt-hours per month, and these would be the rate impacts and bill impacts for that customer, and by way (sic) they come to 1.7 percent average increase.


Would you agree that is what is shown here?


MS. FRANK:  This, I believe, is the R1 customer, which is our largest customer group.  I wouldn't characterize them as an average customer.  They're our largest customer class, and that is normally why we pick them when we give the rates.


So it our largest customer class, and if you look at the May numbers, you see them going from, on a bill impact, a decrease of 1.5 to a positive 1.3, and then items that are positive and negative but all under 1 -- well, substantially under 1 in some of the years, 0.4, negative 0.4 --


DR. HIGGIN:  So the average, as I said, if you do the math it is 1.7 percent, I believe.


MS. FRANK:  I am having trouble that that's an average of 1.7.  Negative 1.5, positive 1.3, 0.8, 0.4, 0.9, that can't be an average of 1.7.


DR. HIGGIN:  We are talking about the rate impact only.  Not the bill impacts.


MS. FRANK:  Oh, you're on the rate impact?


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, distribution rate impact.


MS. FRANK:  Okay.  Rate impact, it still seems a bit high, but subject to check I could take it.


DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  So what we need to do is really look at what the real impacts are on the different customer classes.


You did look at that a bit with Mr. Rubenstein, but I would like to go back and look at G1, tab 4, schedule 1, table 2.  I hope you can make it a bit bigger.  Okay.


So this outlines the distribution and total bill impacts, different consumption levels for each of the rate classes.  And as you will quickly see, that if you look at, say, two-fifteen, that's the column one, two, three, four, five, six, you will see that there is quite a wide range of changes to the total bill for each of the classes.  You will see that.


MS. FRANK:  That's correct.


DR. HIGGIN:  That's because, as you've already said, that coming into that there are changes to cost allocation, to rate design, and so on.


But the bottom line is that very few classes will see positive or reasonably low changes to their total bill through the period.  And Mr. Rubenstein particularly outlined for his clients how big those increases were going to be.  So --


MR. ROGERS:  Is there a question there?


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  And I was going to ask the question, isn't Hydro concerned about the picture that is being presented here?  Never mind, you know, inflation and residential customers.  Aren't you concerned about what this shows?


MS. FRANK:  When we move off of the rate revenue requirement to individual customer classes, this is truly an allocation based upon both the current Board's formula and the various adjustments that we're bringing forward for the Board's consideration.


I would say this is what falls out from all of that exercise.  The piece that I feel that we can be more in control of is, what is the rate revenue requirement and how does that change?  How does it actually get to which customer class and what their share is, to me, is more of a mechanical exercise using the Board's allocation model and then various initiatives.  Several of those initiatives were at the Board's request for us to go and look at them.


So we looked at them.  We came back with a proposal.  Some of those proposals have the result of -- you will notice our residential tend to, in the -- well, certainly in 2015 the urban customers see a large benefit, but at the same time as our general service, urban general service, see a large increase.  It falls out of all the cost allocation rate design.


You have an opportunity to look at those and decide, do you want to do it or don't you want to do it.  It is in our proposal, but it is -- the Board needs to review each of these and decide which of them to do.


The piece we are more in control of is the number we looked at previously, a 6.3 percent increase from a smoothed distribution bill impact increase, and then a total bill of the 2.1.  That's the piece that I think we can be held accountable to.  These others are allocations.


DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So the question then follows from that.  You have a rate mitigation proposal, correct?  Which is called the smoothing proposal.  We can just go back and look at that, again, on the chart.


The question I have is, why did you not consider, given that situation, bringing in some other rate mitigation measures over the planned period; for example, revenue to class ratios, et cetera, et cetera.  Also, why did you not consider bringing in legacy, rate base additions of 600 million in the first year, as opposed to smoothing it over the period?


So that is the question, is, given this picture that we have just looked at, what other considerations did Hydro put forward, as far as smoothing or dealing with the impacts?


MS. FRANK:  There is a few questions there.  Let me first of all deal with the one in terms of the rate base increase that happened in the 2015, where you see the very large increase but for the smoothing.


The reason for that is because of assets that were put in service during that period when we were under an IRM and we could not actually add to the rate base.  There wasn't a significant way to do that.


So it is almost the shortfall that fell out of an IRM environment, that the revised number -- this is the original before the May update -- the revised number there is 10.5, but still a really large increase.


If we wouldn't have had smoothing, that's what year 1 would have looked like from a rates revenue requirement perspective.


Now, on the distribution rate, the smoothing brings it down to 6.3.  So that is one of the things we've already done from, I will call it, a macro level.


When it comes to other mechanisms for the various classes, what we've done is identified each one of those various changes that we're proposing, and that's -- panel 4 will go through them.  There is a large set of changes.  There are revenue-to-cost ratio changes following the Board's approach to get into a more narrow band.  There is fixed/variable changes.  There's seasonal rate changes.  We have heard from several seasonal customers that they're interested in a change.  We have a proposal of that sort.  There is line loss studies, and the impacts on line losses.


So there is quite an amount of change that we're talking about.


The only piece that we've done over and above the changes is we have looked at the Board's normal 10 percent of total bill impact.  And some of these would be higher than 10 percent of total bill.  So we have said no, that is the upper limit.  So we won't go beyond the 10 percent of total bill.


And that amount, we have actually asked for a variance account to track the shortfall, because there would be a shortfall in some cases.


But to me, that is the nature of what you do here.  You look at revenue requirements.  You try to manage that.  And then cost allocation rate design takes you to customer classes.


DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Thanks.


So let's look at some other options that have been put forward for smoothing.  We will call them smoothing.


I would like to turn up I, tab 1, 04, schedule 1, which is EP 6.


So basically -- as you expected to have a question on this, so I thought I would provide it.  And that is earnings sharing, and why, in a cost of service environment -- and that's the important parameter that I put as a preface -- wouldn't earnings sharing be considered, as it was for, for example, Enbridge Gas Distribution?


MS. FRANK:  Well, I would like to turn up another IR response to answer that question.  So it's Exhibit 1, tab 6.03, schedule 6, and it is VECC 76.  And it looks a little bit as to the history of how we've done in terms of ROEs.


So when you look at how has the company performed over the past five years between the actual ROE and the Board-allowed ROE, you see we have not been doing very well.  We failed to make that each and every year.


I think that earnings sharing is something that you bring in when you say there's some history of over-earning, and I see no such history of over-earning.  I see a history of under-earning.


I assume you weren't talking about an earnings sharing that went both ways?


DR. HIGGIN:  I would suggest that from a ratepayer perspective, that's not likely.


MS. FRANK:  Yes, I thought not likely as well.


So you see our history with the past five years, not one year making it.  I'm not convinced we need to have earnings sharing.


DR. HIGGIN:  But the whole point of the plan is that you're going to make, at least make -- that's the value proposition.  You're going to make your allowed return or more.  That is part of the -- that's part of this plan?


MS. FRANK:  Our history demonstrates we are not going to do better than.  Our approach to -- if you find incremental savings, we've said we will do more work.  We have not said we will -- we will pocket that money and earn a high return.  That is not what we've said.  We said we will do more work.


So I do not believe this plan has a premise of over-earning.  I think there is no such premise.


And therefore I don't think earnings sharing is necessary.


DR. HIGGIN:  I think that we won't go to the other IRs that you have addressed that, but we understand Hydro's position on that issue.


Now, in this EP -- if we can bring up the EP IR again, and that is -- coming back to it, it is 1.04, schedule 1, EP 6.


We also asked about another mechanism, which has been used in many -- in other regulatory, and that is to take your revenue requirement smoothing account and then to adjust it by any over or under due to the actual earnings in the year.


For example, you have a deficit of so many million dollars, and what happens if that changed?


So the idea is, call it, a smoothing, a variance account on the smoothing account.  You had the smoothing account, but you have a variance on it.


So you would not adjust the subsequent year by the same amount as per the plan; it would be less, for example.


And your response on that, I believe, was that you were not contemplating and would not consider any such mechanism; is that correct?


MS. FRANK:  Our approach to smoothing was really based on a planned approach.  And it just says whatever the Board approves at the end of the day for the revenue requirement, rather than having a pattern with a large increase in the first year and smaller and smaller over the period, just make it level.


So our smoothing is all on the basis of plan, not on the basis of actual.


DR. HIGGIN:  Right.


MS. FRANK:  The actual experience, our notion will be what it may.  I think the Renewed Regulatory Framework says you would expect some deviation, pluses and minuses.  We just look and said our history says they tend to be more minuses, but we have no suggestion that we would update for actual.


I think one of the challenges you would have, if you do this, would be the problem with a smooth is you tend to under-earn in the early years and you over-earn in the later years.  That is just what smoothing does, right?


So updating for actuals, I think, will be somewhat complicated, doable but somewhat complicated.


And would you do both sides, the under-earn and the over-earn?  I know that the suggestion was no, it is only one-sided.  Now you have added more complexities.


So to me it is another form of earnings sharing.  We have already talked that that is not something that Hydro One believes the company needs.  We do not have a history in our distribution business of over-earning.


DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Thank you.


I have one other, just to try to get in before the break, hopefully, and that is -- relates to the capital program in issue 3.2, if we could turn up E1, tab 1, schedule 1, page 1.


So this exhibit shows the structure of the revenue requirement.  And the first question is that:  Would you agree, just from the math, that this shows that the revenue requirement component called "return on capital," dealing with the return on capital piece, is 442.7 for 2015, and that is about one-third of the 2015 revenue requirement?


In fact, as you have already said, the capital component is a major driver of the changes and increases in the revenue requirement.


So my proposition that I am coming to is to ask you, first of all, about a mechanism which has been used in other places, and that is where the in-service additions to the capital, capital additions, and to rate base, therefore, to the rate base, are subject to a variance account, and that is that it affects the going-forward and adjusts the next year's requirements as they adjust for that return on capital and, therefore, to the revenue requirement.  And that's been used in other places and as a variance account.


Have you considered such a proposal?  I think you will be quite familiar with the proposal from other proceedings.


MS. FRANK:  I am familiar with that from other proceedings.  I do not believe that our distribution capital -- once again, it is the same argument as we had for the return -- that we have a history of not being able to complete the work program and get the assets in-service.


There have naturally been some ups and downs, but when you look across the historic five years, we come very close to putting in-service what the Board-approved amount is or the budget amount.  We come quite close to those amounts.


So I am not convinced that we have a history that requires us to have such a variance account, and all of these -- anytime you have variance accounts, you put in other tracking, it's more costly.


And I think they're a bit of a, You've done badly.  We're going to monitor you more closely.  They're a bit of a penalty.


If you haven't done badly and you have been working very close to plan, then I wonder why it is necessary to put in these variance accounts.  So, no, we believe that our distribution business really has been operating very close to Board-approved levels.  We have been very good with that.  So I don't think they're necessary.


DR. HIGGIN:  Can I challenge you on the fact that that is the case if you look historically, but there is a large ramp-up in capital expenditures through this planned period.


In other words, you are trying to achieve much higher levels of in-service assets through the outlook period and, therefore, I put the suggestion that considering such a variance account which keeps ratepayers and the utility whole may be appropriate.  How would you respond to that?


MS. FRANK:  Well, if I look back to 2013, our actual was at 687 million.  I believe that's higher than any of the numbers that we have here.  I don't know, you can't see from that.  And in 2014 we're at 555 million of in-service.  So there's pretty big programs that are happening through this.


I think what you see in terms of the return on capital is a cumulative effect.  It is year by year by year the rate base is growing.  I had indicated earlier there is a significant growth in rate base, the 1.5-billion over this five-year period.  But I don't see there's a challenge with getting the work done, and I am going to ask you to explore this more thoroughly with panel 3, where they do the work program, and they can give you their level of confidence.  Those are the people who are responsible of executing.  They can tell you how confident they are they can do it.


DR. HIGGIN:  Okay, thank you, Mr. Chair.  I will take -- if you wish to take the break, I have about another 15 minutes of questions when we come back.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you.  Another 15 minutes.  Okay.  So we will anticipate resuming at 4:00.  I will just do a bit of a time check as to who is up next.  Do we have someone?  Mr. Stephenson?


MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes, Mr. Chair.  I think it's going to be me, and I don't anticipate being more than a half an hour, probably less.


MR. QUESNELLE:  We might wrap up the day then, probably.  Okay.


All right.  Just so that others are aware of that.


Okay.  Thank you very much.  Let's resume at four o'clock.

--- Recess taken at 3:40 p.m.
--- On resuming at 4:01 p.m.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.


Dr. Higgin?


DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  In the break, we had an opportunity to explore the problem that we had that led to Undertaking 2.2, and perhaps we can clarify that on the record now. I felt we should.

So if we could turn up Exhibit I, 1.1-9.SEC 1, that's attachment 2 and page 13.  We had this up before.  We're now clarifying, hopefully.


If you now look at the bottom right-hand corner box, you then see a notional 2014 revenue requirement in that box.  And basically that is 1.247 million.  And therefore, although it is notional -- and as you have said, maybe they should also look at updating that relative to revenues -- that is the number that we think is appropriate to consider when looking at the increase from existing rates and revenue requirement going forward into 2015 and beyond.


So that would be the number.


So my suggestion is, subject to any input from the Panel, is that Hydro would check that that number is appropriate as a 2014 notional revenue requirement, or update it, if needed.  And then respond in 2.2 on that basis, if that is okay with you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Any comment from Mr. Rogers?


MR. ROGERS:  Well, I can't read the number, but I think we can undertake to do that.  We will check and see whether this is what I thought we had undertaken to do.  I suspect it isn't quite, but maybe we could update it.


MS. LEA:  So do we need an additional undertaking number for that?  I wasn't --


MR. ROGERS:  I don't think so, sir.  I think --


DR. HIGGIN:  No, I guess it's to check and update the 2014 notional revenue requirement, as shown on that exhibit, which is I-1-1-9, attachment 2, page 13.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  If that is clear with everyone, the undertaking stands as is.  I believe it is pretty much what you had anticipated to do, I think.  Okay.  Thank you.


DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


I would like to now move on to the question of dealing with some of the outcomes, outcome measures, and so on.


So we have some questions about the customer satisfaction surveys that Hydro One has recently filed.  And so could we turn up Exhibit I, 2.6-11.EP 23, and attachment 1 first?  And it was filed as part of a list of undertakings and other exhibits that were filed.  I think in the PDF file -- there we are.  We have the customer satisfaction.  I won't spend much time on this one, because this relates to 2010.  Okay?


So, Mr. Winters, I am sure you are very familiar with this particular one.  And just confirm what, in essence, from the executive summary level, if we could turn down, what this says about Hydro One as far as 2010 is concerned, the comparison.


MR. WINTERS:  As you can see on page 2, it did show that on most measures Hydro One did score lower than best practice, province.


DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  So we won't spend much time.  Let's go to the new one, which is 2013.  That would be attachment 2 to the same exhibit.  This is IPSOS. I think Mr. Rubenstein took you to this.


We seem to be having -- I believe it starts at 270 of the PDF file, if that is helpful, that was filed.  Could we go to the executive summary, please, of this one?


I think, Mr. Cowan, I asked you to find this for me, and you found it in those miscellaneous exhibits that were filed in July, and at page 270; am I correct?


MS. FRANK:  Dr. Higgin, can you give us the reference?  We will try hard copy, to see if we can find it in hard copy too.


DR. HIGGIN:  Well, it is a little problematic, only because it was filed as part of the miscellaneous exhibit undertakings, et cetera, which was a big file, which had a number.  Okay.  They found it.  Okay.


This is the -- just to orient everybody, this is the 2013.  And it's the IPSOS update to the customer satisfaction survey for the Canadian utilities.  That's the residential.  Okay?


Again, so as you would see here, just looking at the executive summary for a start, that Hydro scores lower.  We have seen that before.  Not the best practice utility.


However, let's just go down to one level more and have a look at what some of those issues and concerns were.


Well, stop at this one.  It says Hydro's not that different from best practice on a number of things, and it lists some of those here.  Do you see those?


My question is really, though, when you go to the next page, just by balance is below best practice.


And the first of these that I would like to pick up on is:

"Satisfaction with rates charged and value for money."

 So Mr. Rubenstein asked you about that this morning.


So my question comes back, given this perception and so on of your ratepayers, how will this rate plan increase customer satisfaction by providing value for money?  And when your own surveys say that the size of the bill and rate increases are the number one reason for customer dissatisfaction.  And that comes from your Exhibit A, tab 5, schedule 1.  That's the primary reason for dissatisfaction.


So how will this rate plan deal with that?  That's the question.


MR. WINTERS:  So, Dr. Higgin, let me address your question actually by anchoring on the exhibit that you just most recently mentioned, A-5-1, and the table that shows customer satisfaction, because I believe you have hit upon the 80 percent satisfied, and then of the 20 percent that are neutral or dissatisfied, what the reasons are for that neutral feeling or for that dissatisfaction.


Indeed, you will see for 2013 of the 20 percent of our customers that have answered the survey that are showing either dissatisfied and neutral, that, yes, rates and price is one of the reasons for that dissatisfaction.


You will also notice that, of the percentages that go up that bar chart, it does exceed 100 percent, meaning that customers did respond to more than one item.


I would say that the other items are really based on, A, reliability and, then B, other aspects of service. So whereas there is a sensitivity to rates and price, there is also a concern with reliability or deteriorating reliability, as well as the different aspects of the service that we provide.


So, indeed, we are -- as we have shown in this rate application, we are looking to maintain current reliability levels rather than have them deteriorate, because we know that that will adversely impact customer satisfaction.


We are sensitive to price, though, and that's why we aren't trying to improve reliability, because that would cost a considerable amount more money.  At the same time, of some of those other levers around service, we do plan on improving the services that we provide to our customers.


DR. HIGGIN:  The question I have about this particular survey, indeed, is:  What is the benchmark by which you are making this assessment to "satisfied" or less than satisfied?  What is the benchmark that you use as the base?


Is it your customers, a sample of yours?  Or is it country-wide across Canada?  That's perhaps one of the key questions that you need to consider, is where do you sit not only within the satisfaction of your own customers in those surveys but relative to the benchmark of customer satisfaction with other utilities?


MR. WINTERS:  So Dr. Higgin, as you know, we are striving to drive improved customer satisfaction amongst our customers.  Not the customers of a different province.


So, therefore, we are listening directly to our customers.  We're hearing what their dissatisfiers are and we are acting on those dissatisfiers the best of our ability while balancing other attributes, such as reliability, environment, safety and so on.


DR. HIGGIN:  So that if we were to do a two-fifteen survey, IPSOS survey again, Hydro would have, by those measures, moved up in ranking considerably.  Is that your estimate?  Because the benchmark, in my view, is still relevant.


MR. WINTERS:  So when we do our surveys in 2015 I'm afraid I cannot see into the future so I can't tell you how our customers will respond.  However, you can see from our outcome measures that we are planning on increasing customer satisfaction from the current levels of 80 percent, or 80 percent as of 2013 up to 85 percent to 2019.


And by improving satisfaction with outage handling, with improving other aspects of the service, as well as maintaining reliability are some of the ways that we are going to do that.


DR. HIGGIN:  So then we can expect that you would move up in the rankings in the national surveys in several categories.  Is that what we would expect as a result of your improving customer satisfaction?


MR. WINTERS:  That would be a reasonable expectation.  It would be -- it would be a great outcome if we moved up in the perception that our customers have of us, absolutely.


DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.


So now I would like to move on to the last area, which is outcome measures.  And I am having some difficulty understanding how your scorecard -- and we will pull that up in a minute -- relates to the OEB new scorecard, the one that is now being required for all distributors.


And perhaps we can get at this by pulling up the scorecard, which was filed, I think, in response to TCJ.16.  Have a look at that again.


Okay.  Now, we have been through this several times, and so I won't spend much time on that, but I would just like to ask these questions.


If you were to go to the Board's recent report regarding the scorecard, I believe that's 379 that's just been issued, how would you compare the categories at a high level?  Let's talk about the left-hand column:  Operational effectiveness, public policy, et cetera.  High-level.  How would you compare that with the categories that the Board is asking for from distributors?  And those would be customer focus, operational effectiveness, et cetera.  And why does Hydro -- how does Hydro see this scorecard as complimentary, supplementary to the Board's scorecard?  Could you address that issue, please?


MS. FRANK:  I would like to use the term "supplementary", so the categories, I believe, are very similar.  The categories, indeed, when we look at the public policy or the operational effectiveness, I believe we -- there's customer focus -- those were the same categories that the Board has in their scorecard.


And the Board has, I would say, higher-level metrics, metrics that are broader-based rather than specific program-type oriented.  These are very detailed, program-oriented type metrics.  So -- the Board's are not, on the other hand.


So I would expect that we would do the Board's reporting on their scorecard, as well as these outcomes.  So "supplementary" would be the best characterization.


DR. HIGGIN:  So have you looked at a rationalization of that?  And are you suggesting that one or the other is better for us to judge the outcomes of this plan?


MS. FRANK:  No.  I think they serve different purposes.  So I do think that the Board's, as I say, higher-level, broad-based, looking to compare likely across utilities, and I think they -- all of those metrics have merit and will be beneficial to the Board in their examination of the utilities, distribution utilities, in general.


The outcome ones, which are now on the screen, those are specific to the Hydro One custom plan.  They only relate to our plan.  They would not be broad-based, that you take to others.  Others may not need to target these areas for examination for investment.


So I see the outcomes relating very strictly to our custom application:  Where are we trying to do some work, where are we concerned that deterioration would happen but for this work?  This is the metric.  The Board's higher-level -- same categories, more broad-based measures, also very necessary.  You need both.


DR. HIGGIN:  Okay, thank you.


The last area I wanted to talk about was stakeholder engagement during the rate-plan period.


So could we start by turning up Exhibit A, tab 5, schedule 1, page 6.  Is that A, tab 5, schedule 1, page 6?


MR. WINTERS:  Yes, we're there.


DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  So the question I think is, this whole section deals with questions of, where are you going to engage with customers.


So my problem was, when I went through the application, I could not come up with a specific stakeholder engagement plan and set of activities that would correspond to that that the gas utilities have; for example, reporting on actuals versus forecasts, et cetera.  Dealing with things such as material changes to the capital programs, et cetera, the performance metrics relative to the scorecards, a general engagement of the stakeholders.


Can you point to that?  Where is it, that particular plan?


MR. WINTERS:  Let me answer that by -- and I will stay within the pages of this particular exhibit.


So you will see that we are -- we will continue to survey our customers, both on overall perception as well as transactional surveys.


And transactional surveys, as you know, is if they have had a recent interaction with us through any course of our business or the service we provide to them.  We then seek their feedback on how they felt that that service went.


If you'd turn to page 9, it talks about customer engagement beyond the surveys.  And that's where would he talk about customer advisory boards, as well as the different aspects.


So it does lay it out, customer focus groups throughout the evidence on this is really our stakeholder engagement or customer engagement beyond the survey.


And if you recall, in my response to Ms. Lea after the lunch break, around developing a report card that we will provide on our web for all of our customers to see different aspects of our service and how we are meeting their commitments to them.


DR. HIGGIN:  So there is no specific engagement plan or process for the ratepayers -- i.e., the group that would be here, for example -- as does the gas utilities for their ratepayers, where they hold one or more annual meetings, do reporting, answer questions, et cetera?


There is nothing in the plan for that to occur?


MR. WINTERS:  Dr. Higgin, do you mean different than the customer advisory board as outlined on page 9 of that exhibit?


DR. HIGGIN:  Oh, yes.  I assume the CAB is an appointed body and basically is used for certain purposes, as said here.


No, I am talking about the gas utility approach, which is basically doing the plan:  We're going to meet with our stakeholders.  We will update them on what the actual performance has been, and deal with any issues and so on.


That's the question.  Is there such -- I can't find it in the evidence, and therefore I would assume there is not such a plan; am I correct?


MR. WINTERS:  You are correct, that there are no other customer engagement plans beyond what is outlined in this particular exhibit.


DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Dr. Higgin.


Mr. Stephenson, you had suggested that you might need as much as 30 minutes.  We do have a hard stop at 4:45, so I leave it to you whether or not you want to start now, or you can head up tomorrow morning and commence then.


MR. STEPHENSON:  I would love nothing better than to be back here tomorrow morning and start then.  So I will take option B.


MR. QUESNELLE:  All right.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much.


Unless we have anything else to conclude on today?  I don't believe so.  No?  With that...


MR. ROGERS:  That's fine.  Thank you, sir.  I will have panel 2 here mid-morning.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mid-morning?  Okay.  Very good.


And we will commence at 9:30 tomorrow morning.  Thank you.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:25 p.m.
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